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The Origin of the Royal Stewarts. 3

down to 1700 the manuscript still existed or was an
authority.! What a charming narrative concerning the
chivalry of men equally brave and redoubtable with Wallace
and Bruce would the poet of Freedom have afforded us in
this epic! Probably to Barbour, and this hidden work,
Hector Boece was indebted for the romantic story of
Banquo and Fleance, which too critical minds would resolve
into a fable—because it is passing strange. Yet it is not
nearly so improbable a history as that which undoubted facts
enable us to present regarding the Fitz Alans, who were also
progenitors of the Kings of Scots, and according to my con-
tention and showing veritably the offspring of this mythical
Banquo.

The question which Sir Walter Scott makes Maitre Pierre
direct to Quentin Durward, and the reply of the latter, form
a suggestive parallel to this inquiry: “‘Durward, said the
querist, ‘is it a gentleman’s name?’ ‘By fifteen descents in
our family,” said the youth, ‘and that makes me reluctant to
follow any other trade than arms.”” And it is evident that
the novelist, in tracing Quentin to “Allan Durward who was
High Steward of Scotland,” was utilising the old national
traditions regarding the Stewart family, and throwing the
halo of romance around the hero whose adventures fall now
to be followed.? \

It was to a paraphrase, by Holinshed, of a portion of the
Scots Translation of the History of the Scots by Boece,
made by the courtly Archdean of Moray, John Bellenden,

1 Tom. iil. pp. 293, 437, MS. Adv. Lib.: ‘““Hujus stemma sive genealogia ‘
male texitur a Johanne Barberii qui asserit originem habuisse a quodam Le Fleank
de Warren de Wallia.”

2 ¢Quentin Durward,’ chapter xxxvii.
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more than to any other source, that Shakespeare was indebted
for the hapless memory which, under the name of Banquo,
he has reclothed with flesh and blood and personified in
the immortal tragedy of Macbeth.! Bellenden and William
Stewart, the Court poet, had been employed to convert into
the modern tongue the Latin work by Hector Boece, which
probably had been composed, like the translations, to gratify
the youthful king, James the Fifth, to whom it was dedicated.
Hector Boethius was a man of many parts, formerly teacher
of philosophy in Paris, and in 1527, when he issued his His-
tory, Principal of King’s College, Aberdeen? The fusion of
facts and dates with the elements of romance in the author’s
work has taken place after careful investigation of whatever
solid historical materials then extant, but now partly lost,
were available. Boece was no deliberate romancer, but
rather the exponent of a historical method which had not
yet authorised students to obliterate the traditions and im-
probable narratives of the ancients. That method was
still conservative, and happily it was so, since, after the
early scattering of the literary remains of Scotland, it would
have been now impossible, without the aid of those old
histories, to have pieced in and fitted together those remin-
iscential fragments, which are reappearing from our charter-
chests to alter the retrospect.

The origin of the Royal House was a theme whose orna-
mentation Boece might consider pardonable. But indepen-
dently of a substratum of fact, he could scarcely be so bold
as invent the tale of Banquo, unless he designed to expose

1 Ralph Holinshed, ¢The First Volume of the Chronicles of England, Scot-
lande, and Ireland,’ p. 243. London, 1577.
2 ¢Scotorum Historiee a prima gentis origine,” &c.
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the frailty of Fleance and cast a shade upon the royal scut-
cheon, which is not consistent with his dedication. We may
safely assert that the tragic tale told by Boece was no new
romance in the sixteenth century, but a history as possible as
it is acceptable, which philology and keener research may
restore to a shape harmonious with truth. In brief, his
narrative is to this effect, that in the reign of Duncan, King
of Scots (1034-1040), Banquho was a royal thane in the
district of Lochaber, who, in the exercise of his official func-
tion as collector of the Crown revenues, was set upon and
left for dead by some ruffians called Magdoualds, who in-
habited those parts! Banquho, however, recovered, and
complained to the king, who empowered him and Macbeth,
the Maormor of Ross, another of his generals, to march
against and chastise the western rebels, who had gathered
together a mixed host of islesmen and Irish freebooters.
Banquho is next associated with King Duncan and Macbeth
at the battle of Culros, where he commanded the second
division of the army, which was vanquished by Sueno the
Norwegian. In a succeeding struggle the enemy, having
partaken of provisions rendered soporific by the Scots; who
placed them in their way, were defeated by the Scots at
Perth, who followed up this victory by dispersing Canute’s
fleet in the Forth. In these and other brilliant campaigns,
Banquho, as a courtier of rank and importance, shared the
honours of the victorious generals.

As he and Macbeth, one day, were enjoying sport in the
vicinity of Forres, they were suddenly hailed by three ap-

! Boece, ‘Historie,” &c., lib. xii. fol. cclv. : ¢ Banquho regius in Loquhabria
Thanus origo familize Stuart clarissimee, quee longa serie regem hodiernum pro-

-

duxit,” &c. The ¢ in Banquho is simply the cursive ¢Z.
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paritions of feminine aspect, who addressed them in prophe-

tic accents, as Shakespeare has paraphrased our historian :—

“1s¢ Witch. Lesser than Macbeth, and greater.
24 Witch. Not so happy, yet much happier.
3d Witch. Thou shalt get kings, though thou be none. So all hail,
Macbeth and Banquo !”

Incited by these suggestions, Macbeth, having Banquho in
his counsels, cut off the king and usurped his throne. Still,
the words of the weird sisters haunted the mind of the child-
less monarch, who conceived a dread for his fellow regicide,
who was to be the parent of kings. Accordingly he invited
Banquho and his son Fleanchus to a banquet, which was a
trap, hedged round with assassins ready to despatch them
both on their departure. But, duly warned by friends at Court,
botl of them escaped the unassayed snare (¢usidias intentatas),
and Fleanchus fled an exile into Wales. The talent of Flean-
chus soon won the notice of the Prince there, who treated
“the beautiful and noble youth” well, only to be requited
by the exile dishonouring his host’s daughter, who gave birth

to a son, Walter by name—
“In Albione wes nocht ane fairar child.”

The Welsh prince slew Fleance, made his daughter a serf,
and rusticated the babe. In his twentieth year Walter re-
turned to, and ingratiated himself at, his maternal grand-
father’s Court, until, embroiled in some bibulous fracas, he
slew a taunting Welshman and made for Scotland, where
his grandfather secemed still to be living, in order to seck
refuge under Queen Margaret® (who, strange to say, was a

1 “Qcciso convinciatore clam azo in Scotiam contendit,” fol. cclx.



The Origin of the Royal Stewarts. 7

Saxon princess of England born while her parents were
exiled in Hungary). Under King Malcolm III. he rose
to become the victorious general who subdued the rebels
of Galloway and the Isles, and finally was appointed the
Steward of the realm, and lord of the Stuart-lands in
Ayrshire. According to Boece (but erroneously), his son
was Alan the Crusader: Alan was father of Alexander,
founder of Paisley Priory,—Alexander, of Walter of Dun-
donald, who, with Alexander, the same Walter’s son, were
heroes of the battle of Largs. Robert of Tourbouton was
brother of Alexander of Dundonald.

So far the plain narrative of Boece, credible in all but
minor particulars,—which, with trifling embellishment, re-
peated by the Scots writers, Bellenden, Stewart, Buchanan,
Bishop Leslie, and accepted by Holinshed, is agreeably
plausible.

So far gone as 1566, Queen Mary’s favourite bishop, the
Scots historian Leslie, avers that the romantic story of the
origin of the Stewarts in Bute was “ane alde traditione” :—

“Bute mairatouer is ane elegant and trimme Ile, x myles lang,
eivin and plane, induet with gret fertilitie, decored with ane
ancient and magnifik castel, quhairfra first sprang, as we have
of ane alde traditione,-the clann of the Kingis hous, to wit,
the Stuardes, and familie.”

When further treating of Malcolm Canmore’s reign, the
bishop writes:—

“The sam tyme was Waltir Fleanthie, his son, decoret with

the honour of cheife Merchal (Senescallus), because in Galloway
and in the hilandes he dantounet had the rebellis; of quhome

1 ¢The Hist. of Scot.,” transl. by Father James Dalrymple, pt. i. p. 55 (Scot.
Text Soc. edit.)
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cam the familie of the Stuartis, qubais offspring we sie this day
illustre, and schine sa bricht in the kings scepter.”?!

He further elaborates the romance of “Bancho the Kingis
livetenant in Loquhaber,” and makes his son “Fleanch” father
of Walter the first Steward.?

From Leslie’s words it is not plain whether or not he
means that the progenitors of the first Steward—that is, the
family of Banquo as well—had a connection with Bute. If
they were descendants of the successors of King Aidan
(see vol. i. p. 163), then it is certain they were connected
with Dalriada, and that may explain the tenacity with which
the Stewarts held to Bute.

Subsequent writers have embellished “the alde traditione,”
truthfully or otherwise, and adorned the outcast Fleance
with the virtues of a military Moses. In its elaborated form
the narrative, eked out by researches in Welsh history,
circumstantially declares that Fleance found protection under
Griffyth ap Lewellyn, Prince of North Wales? in 1039,
probably at his palace of Rhuddlan, where he and his wife
Alditha, daughter of Algar, Earl of Mercia, brought up their
daughter,* named Guenta® or Nesta® or Marjoretta,” whom

1 ¢The Hist. of Scot.,” pt. ii. p. 310. 2 Ibid., pt. iil. p. 22.

8 ¢ Chron. of Princes of Wales,” var. loc.

4 Dr James Anderson’s ‘Royal Genealogies’ (London, 1733, p. 746) make
Griffyth have two daughters—one, unnamed, who married Fleance, and Nesta or
Mary, who married Trahaern, Prince of North Wales. .

® Yeatman, ‘The Early Gen. Hist. of the House of Arundel,” p. 326. Lon-
don, 1832, Agatha, mother of Gwenta, married King Harold after Griffyth’s
death.

¢ O’Flaherty’s  Ogygia,’ p. 500.

7 Sir J. Dalrymple’s MS. Collections, Adv. Lib., 34, 3, 15, pp. 80, 81.






10 Bute in the Olden Time.

in the primary sources where the narrative took its inception,
and these must necessarily be Iro-Scottish and Welsh Annals,
supplemented by later ecclesiastical charters, on which we
presume the Scots writers founded. At the outset, however,
the reader must remember that great weight attaches to the
fabulous-looking genealogies which the Seanachies or family-
recorders kept of old, for a reason given by Giraldus Cam-
brensis, in the twelfth century, when referring to the pride of
family exhibited by the Welsh nation: “ Even the common
people retain their genealogy, and can not only readily re-
count the names of their grandfathers and great-grandfathers,
but even refer back to the sixth or seventh generation.”! Ac-
cording to the early Welsh laws, a man’s pedigree was his
title to his paternal acres, and descent through nine gen-
erations was required before a native was considered free-
born. This explains the point of the taunt of the hapless
Owen.

Among the first Irish settlers in Caledonia was Maine
Leavna, of the race of Eogan More, who (with his brother
Cairbre, afterwards of Mar) left the rushy lands of Leven in
Kerry, and came to the banks of Loch Lomond, where his
family and sept resided, except when they joined the tribu-
tary expeditions into Ireland which were common. From
Maine, after a succession of chiefs of Lennox, duly sprang
Banchu, according to the Irish genealogists. I shall
exhibit side by side two genealogies, the first in Irish by
Mac Firbis (1650), and the other in Gaelic, preserved in a MS.
of date 1450, before the time of the fabulist Boece, which
will illustrate this relationship with Corc:—

i ¢ Description of Wales,” chap. xvii. Bohn, p. 505.
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mon’s seed, except the . . . And Heber [took] the southern half;
of whose children are the Dalcassians the Del Cein and the Delbhna,
the Eoganachts of Cashel, of Lochhein, of . . ., and of Glenamh-
nach, the Eoganachts of Ara . . ., and #ke Lennoxes of Scotland
(ZLemnaigh Alban). All these are the seed of Heber, Lugaid son
of Ith, [of his children are] the Corca Laighde, and all the Calrys
are from Lugaid.”!

Kennedy also maintains that Walter, the first Steward,
was the son of Fleannus—a statement which Pere de la

Haye, in a reply to Kennedy, as flatly contradicts? The
difficulty of reading the faint caligraphy of the portion of the
magnificent ‘Book of Lecan’—one of the treasures of the
Royal Irish Academy—referred to by.Kennedy3 as his auth-
ority for Bancho’s direct descent, prevents me, at present,
saying more than that this book, and several other equally
ancient Irish MSS., clearly trace the Leven Maormors to
Corc, who lived in the fourth century A.D.*

1 “Book of Lecan,’ folio xiii. col. 2, 1. 16, This interesting old Irish MS. is in
the Royal Irish Academy, Dublin. It is the compilation of Gilla Isa Mor Mac
Firbis, one of the race of historians, genealogists, and poets to the chief septs of
Connaught, and was written before 1416. The last of these hereditary historians,
Dubhaltach Mac Firbisigh of Lecan, the tutor of O’Flaherty and Dr Lynch, was
murdered in 1670, at Dauflin, Sligo. Of him O’Flaherty said : *‘ Dualdus Fir-
bissius patrize antiquitatum professor hereditarius.” In his genealogies he traced
the Stewarts to the Lennox family. The above translation of a passage which, by
indistinctness, baffled O’Curry, and also prevented my own transcription of it, has
been done by Mr J. J. Macsweeny, the librarian of the Royal Irish Academy.

2 «Lettre ecrite an Duc de Perth, &c., par Pere de la Haye.” Paris, 1714, p. 05:
¢I{ ne monte pas plus haut que Gualtier Stuart qui etoit certainement fils d’Alain
et non pas de Fleannus puisque dans les chartres il se dit Walterus filius Alani,
Dapifer Regis Scotiz.”

3 Fol. 1103, col. 3; fol. 13a, col. 2.

4 MS. by Dermot O’Conor: Trin. Coll, Dublin, H. 2, 5. MS., H. 2, ¥,
Trin. Coll,, Dublin, col. 69. Geneal. of Scots Families of Irish Origin. (See
O’Donovan Catal. to MSS.) ¢Book of Ballymote,’ fol. 84, Gen. Hist. of Dalria-
dic Kings in Scotland.
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By comparison of these tables it may be concluded that
Walter, the son of Fleadan, son of Banchu, is identical with
Walter, son of [A]llan (or Flan), son of Murechach of the
Lennox family, if not also with Walter, son of Amloib, son
of Duncan of the other genealogy. Chronology easily per-
mits of the equation of Murdoch, the Maormor of Leven, who
was at Clontarf in 1014, with Banchu the general of Duncan 1.
in 1034, who might have survived even his son Fleance—we,
meantime only, assuming that Fleance was slain in Wales.
Ban-chu, the pale warrior, would be his complimentary title;
the old surname of his family, C#, pronounced by his semi-
Cymric followers C/%z, also descended to his son Flan-chu,
the red or ruddy warrior, known to his Irish kinsmen as
Fleadan.

This Irish form of the name Fleadan tan (i.e., either Flea-
dan the Tanist, or Fleadan the younger) imports a significant
idea—namely, flead (pronounced f, flié-dn), a feast, which
corresponds in signification with Flaald, Senescal of Do), the
name in Brittany of the father of Alan, afterwards Lord of
Oswestry, who in turn was the father of Walter, the Steward
of Scotland. Is it impossible that in those days of felicitous
surnames this designation of Fleadan was applied to the youth
who so happily escaped the Feas? of murderous Macbeth? It
is, however, plain that for some inexplicable reason the Scots
and Irish writers either omit this Alan, or, at least, identify
him with Walter, the son of Fleance or Flann, or maybe of
Aulay. Ailin or Allan may have become the family name,
as we see it before as a cognomen worn by King Aeda Alain ;
‘or the personal name Baltair may have been conjoined with
the designation of Aluin, the fair one, and thus have given
rise to confusion.
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So far, I have not been able to trace Murdoch of Leven off
the warlike stage ; but it is one of the most incredible mistakes
made by Scots historians that they have assumed, what Boece
does not aver, that Macbeth succeeded in destroying Banquo,
whereas Boece apparently keeps him alive till Walter was
twenty years of age—say 1065. If this be so, and Banquo
himself was a claimant for the Crown as a descendant of
Kenneth I., where, then, did he find refuge during the eigh-
teen years of Macbeth’s reign, is a competent question.

The Celts were great travellers and pilgrims, and were as
well known in foreign lands in the tenth century as the Scots
are in the nineteenth.! Did he retire to Brittany?

Chalmers, who first in the ¢‘Caledonia’ elucidated the
origin of the Stewarts in the Shropshire FitzAlans, treats
the romance of Banquo as a fabrication undeserving of con-
sideration. His confident conclusions are, however, neither
in harmony with historical facts, nor with the legitimate
inferences which philology enables us to draw from the tradi-

tion he ignores. He says:—

“ History knows nothing of Banquo the Thane of Lochaber, nor
of Fleance, his son. (Even the very name of Banquo and Fleance
seem to be fictitious, as they are not Gaelic. We know from the
evidence of record that Banquo was not an ancestor of the family of
Stewart.) None of the ancient chronicles nor Irish Annals, nor even
Fordun, recognise the fictitious name of Banquo and Fleance,
though the latter be made by genealogists the ‘root and father of
many kings.” . . . Neither is a Thane of Lochaber known in

1 ‘Ann. Tigh.’: ““975, Kl : Domnall macEoain Ri Bretain in ailitri”—Don-
ald, son of Eoain, King of Britain, goes into pilgrimage.

Chron., Mariani : ‘‘ 1050, Rex Scottiee Macbethad Romae argentum pauperibus
seminando distribuit.”
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Scottish history, because the Scottish kings had never any demesnes
within that impervious district.” !

The sobriquet Banguho (genitive Banguhonis, Boece, 1526)
is a pure Goidelic compound word—namely, Ban-ciu (‘Og-
ygia’ 1685 bdncu)— signifying The White Dog (éax, pale,
white, ¢z, Cymric, clut, a dog, gen. coin, Irish, chon ; Bancho-n,
Mac Firbis's Pedigrees, 1650, p. 423), 7.¢., The Fair Hero.

Fleanchus (Boece: ‘Oxygia’ Fleannus) is the Latinised
form of Flansn-chu, The Red or Ruddy Dog (Goidelic fann,
blood, adj., ruddy, red: cf. fionn, fair), and is also a
sobriquet—The Bloodhound, ze., The Red Hero.

This nomenclature is evidently a reminiscence of the dog-
totem or dog-divinity, which was anciently held in reverence
in Ireland and among the Celts of Western Alban. The
term Cu became through time synonymous with a fierce
warrior, or heroic personage, who as a watchdog guarded the
district associated with him ; hence C# Connaught, now Con-
stantine, The Dog of Connaught; Ci#t Mumhain, Cii Midke,
Cit Caisil, Cii Ulas? One of the kings of Strathclyde (which
formerly included part of Banquo’s thanage) was Cu# The
great Ultonian hero was Cu-chulain. Saint Kentigern
(Munghu) was called /n Glas Chil, or, The Grey Dog, and
being patron saint of Glasgow gave to his seat his name.?
One of the heroes who fell in the Bann, when the Dalriadic
fleet from Kintyre assisted their kinsmen in Ireland in 773,
was Bran-chu Mc Brain, The Black Dog, son of Bran, a hero

named either after his father or Fingal’s famous dog, Bran.*

1 ¢Caledonia,’ p. 411. For an exposition of Chalmers’s views, cf. ¢ Stewartiana,’
pp-. 55-69, by John Riddell.

2 Irish MSS., H. 3. 17, Trin. Coll., Dublin.

3 Pinkerton’s ¢ Vitee Sanct. Scot.,” pp. 195-297. 4 ¢ Ann. Tigh.’

VOL. II. B
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An abbot of Iona, who died in 724, was Faol-ciu, The Wolf
Dog! It is still more interesting to find that the son of
Harold, King of Man, was styled in Latin Maccus Mac Arailt,
— Mac-c, The Son of the Dog, the son of Harold: and this
Mac-cu is designated “the king of many isles” when he
attended to pay homage to King Edgar in 973 at Chester,
where he was accompanied by his allies, the Lagmanns, who
were the inhabitants of that part of Argyle, then as now
called the Lamont country, terminating at Ardlamont, and
part of Dalriada.?

Further, one of the Orkney Sagas refers to a personage
named Karl Hundason, or Hound’s son, whom Professor
Rhys prefers to identify with King Macbeth (in Goidelic,
Mac-con, Hound’s-son) rather than with King Duncan, his
victim, a descendant of King Mael-con, slave of the dog.?
Some genealogists held that Mac Ailin, from whom Bancho
descended, was a descendant of Mac-con (anno 200).

One of the witnesses to the Inquisition of Prince, after-
wards King, David 1., giving a list of properties in connection
with the Church of Glasgow in 1118, is “ Maccus filius Und-
neyn,” which I take to be Mac-Cu, son of Hundchen (German,
hiindchen, a little hound), or, The Son of the Dog, Son of the
Little Dog.* He appears with Walter the First Steward as
a witness to David’s grants to Melrose in 1142—*“ Maccus
_ filius Undwain ”—“Maccus filius Unwain.”?

Maccus had two sons, Liulf and Robert, who are in

1 ¢ Ann. Tigh.’ i 2 ¢ Annals of Four Masters.’
3 Cf. Bede, bk. iii. chap. iv., for Meilochon—z.e., King Brude Mac Maelchon.

4 Pinkerton, ‘Enquiry,” p. §515. This is the origin of name Maxwell—de
Maccuswell.

5 ¢Lib., Mel.,’ pp. 5, 666.
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Walter’s retinue when he dispones Mauchline to Melrose.!
They were probably Celtic relatives.

The dog was thus a venerated animal among the rude peo-
ple who inhabited the district now called Lochaber, where last
the wolf-dog was seen in Scotland, and it is not surprising
to find its name associated with a branch of the family who
sprang from the Munster house of Corc and from Brude Mac
Meilochon, King of the Picts, whose palace was by Loch
Ness. In Kenneth M‘Alpin the line of Pictish and Scottish
kings were united, and his sovereignty acknowledged from
cast to west. In Duncan, the king (4 1040), and in the wife
of Macbeth, the same blood ran, and, according to others, in
Macbeth and Banquo.

The relationship of Banquo to the king is not so easily
made out. Although there is no record that a Thane of
Lochaber existed at this epoch, there must have been a
Crown official over that district who was responsible to
the Crown, or to the High Steward, for the royal dues,
and also for the mustering of the troops, and who corre-
sponded with the hereditary chief of the clan. His official
designation was Maor, which in the Teutonic tongue was
Thane, a word probably Celtic in origin, signifying a chief,
I7ern. A still higher official governing a larger district was
the Maormor (styled Jarl by the Norwegians 2), or great Maor
—the Lord High Steward—of whom several appear in his-
tory, assisting the Irish kings, their kinsmen allies, in battle?

1 ¢Lib. Mel.,,’ pp. 56, 57. “Liulfo filio Macchus.” ¢Lib. Mel.,” p. 141: the
Gaelic pronunciation is here retained in Macchus.
"2 ¢Jarla Saga:’ Rhys, ¢ Celtic Britain,” p. 190.
3 Robertson, ‘Scotland under her Early Kings,’ p. 102. Todd’s ‘Cogad Gaill

re Gallaibh,’ p. 211 ; see Introduction and Notes, pp. clxxviii, clxxix. ‘Ann.
Ulster,” anno 1014.
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Donald (in 1014) was Steward of Mar, Macbeth Steward of
Moray, Macduff of Fife, and Murdoch of Leven. [ILochaber,
I infer, was the northern portion of the Stewardship of
Leven, and included Appin, long an appanage of the Crown
. held by Stuarts—

“ The land of Green Appin, the ward of the flood ;
Where every grey cairn that broods over the shore
Marks grave of the royal, the valiant, or good.”

The Irish colonists from Kerry, who gave the name they
brought from their native district (Leam/ina) to the river
Leven, which watered their acquired territory, in conse-
quence called the Lennox (Leamhain-uisce, Leven Water :
Levenach, Leven men), probably impressed the same name
of Leven upon the loch and river in Lochaber on the nor-
thern confines of Dalriada. Their territory was extensive,
apparently stretching from the Clyde to Glen More, and
from sea to sea over middle-Scotland, Dumbarton being
their stronghold in the south, and Tor Castle! on the
Lochy their defence in the north, which tradition avers
was the seat of Banquo.? We must now change the scene.

Contemporaneously with the alleged flight of the son of
Fleance into Brittany, there appears in the feudal court of
Combourg, in Brittany, in the capacity of a seneschal or
steward, a stranger named Fredald or Flaald, of whose ante-

rY

1 ¢Stat. Acc.,” vol. viil. p. 436 : “ And a little below the site of Torecastle there is
a most beautiful walk, about a quarter of a mile long, that still retains the name of
Banquo ”—*“Banquo’s Walk.” The late Rev. Dr Clerk, Kilmallie, the dis-
tinguished Ossianic scholar, embodied the local traditions regarding Banquo in a
MS. brochure which he presented to her Majesty the Queen in 1873. In it he
maintained the antiquity of the traditions. I have not seen the brochure.

2 Inchmyrryne in Loch Lomond was the stronghold of the Earls of Lennox in

later times.
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cedents nothing as yet can be specified.! The picturesque
castle of Combourg, which in the end of last century was the
peaceful retreat of Chateaubriand, its noble owner, still bears
on tower and battlement the characteristics of the warring
age which saw it rise
to menace or protect
the fertile fields and
orchards lying around
the lake beneath its
basement. Its im-
pregnable  situation
on a secure mound
might create the im-
pression that military
arrogance placed the
stronghold there, did

not the pleasing sur-

roundings of rich pas-
ture, anon variegated
with the flying blos-

som of the fruit-trees and their ruddy clusters, suggest the

Tke Castle of Combourg. -

cunning design of a happier spirit.

So it was that Junkenecus, the son of Hamo, the Count of
Dinan, when he ascended the archiepiscopal throne of Dol
(1008-1032), founded the pinnacled towers of Combourg, and
set up there the secular court of Rivallon, his brother, first

Lord of Combourg and Dol. The frowning fortress, eight

1 Lobineau, ¢ Hist. de Bret.,” vol. ii. p. 310, 138; ¢ Mon. Anglic.,” vol.i. p. 553;
Morice, ‘Preuves & I'Hist. de Bret.,” vol. i. p. 492; ‘Notes and Queries,’
Series V., vol. x. pp. 402, 472 : also see Indices,
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miles S.E. of the ancient Armorican capital, Dol, added
security on the Norman frontiers to the rich possessions of
the Church.

In Dol the successive bishops, well warded within the strong
walls which encircled the brow of the eminence on which the
ancient cathedral, the chateau, and the town then stood, main-
tained by their affluence all the pomp and circumstance of
powerful secular lords! A sword more oft than a crucifix
was in the bishop’s hand ; the hauberk glistered on him as
oft as the rochet. His palace was thronged with every kind
of official, from the steward, who was overseer of all his
secular interests, down to the marshal, the constable, and
others who doled out the fragments of the savoury kitchen,
and to the more menial Scottish slaves.

The grey-granite town of Dol was thus an important ececle-
siastical and military centre, and on its “ Grande Rue,” off
which ran the shaded alleys up to the Cathedral, lived the
thriving vassals of the Archbishop, who never shrank to
quarrel with their Norman enemies. Its very position made
it a rendezvous for stirring spirits eager for any crusade, and
an asylum for exiles seeking service in perilous times. Its
hallowed associations gave it an especial attractiveness for
English and Welsh refugees. Sampson of Wales and of
York, of happy memory, founded his oratory there, over-
looking the salt marshes, in the sixth centuty; and to him
came, among others—Ilike Teliane of Landaff, his successor—
the famous Welsh saint Iltud, to lay his weary bones in the

1 ¢Gallia Christiana,” tom. xiv. pp. 1045-1048; ¢ Histoire Eccles. et Civile de
Bretagne,” tom. ii. p. lili— ¢Ilist. des Evesques, par Dom. P. H. Morice :
Paris, 1750.
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church beside his great friend and pupil. So Dol was dear
to Welshmen, who were also naturally allied to their Celtic
kinsmen over the sea, in Lesser Britain; and what with the
reputation of the schools, what with marriage alliances, war,
and commerce with the Saxons, no more likely retreat for
the exiled son of Fleance could be imagined.

It was not an improbable occurrence for a Highland exile
to find shelter in the Welsh Court, and also for himself and
his family to receive equal sanctuary in the monasteries of
Brittany. The old link between the Celtic Churches was not
broken, and pilgrims were still leaving Welsh, Irish, and
Scottish homes to carry the light and culture of the Celtic
schools into foreign monasteries. At this very time the
Celtic monks were favourites in France and Germany, as
they had been in the time of Charlemagne. They were
founders of monasteries like Marianus, of Ratisbon, not needy
bakers, like Fleance and Alan. The shipmen of Kintyre
traded with the French, and the Normans sometimes raided
in Ireland. Who then can tell what brother Celt was there
to receive the royal wanderer to Dol ?

The lords of Combourg and Dol were generous to religion
and liberal to the Church. Rivallon and his family gave to
the monastery of St Martin at Marmoutier their rights in the
church of the Blessed Mary at Combourg some time before
1064, and among his retinue witnessing the charter appears
the name of his Seneschal, Fredaldus (“s. Fredaldi, senescalci ”
—see Appendix II1.) This name is almost unique in Breton
charters and history—being held by this individual and by
Fledald the brother of Alan, who succeeded Fredald in the
seneschalship of Dol, and by no others. Who was he, and
whence did he come ?



24 Bute tn the Olden Time.

The late Earl of Crawford and Balcarres, after many years
of laborious inquiry into the mysterious origin of the
Stewarts, although he inclined to believe that “Fredaldus,
the Seneschal, was son of Frotmundus, surnamed Vetulus, or
the old, a landed proprietor in the district -now called
ChAteaubriant during the eleventh century, and that the
family were of Irankish extraction,” descended from Phara-
mond, was forced to come to this conclusion : “ I have found
no notice of the family of Fredaldus Senescalcus in the
district of Dol or its neighbourhood, before the appearance
of that individual in the character of Seneschal as witnessing
the document already before the reader, which must bear
date previously to 1066. Moreover, I have not as yet met
with any positive or direct evidence by which Fredaldus or
his son Alan can be affiliated as the son or descendant of
any house in Brittany.”?

This well-considered judgment opens the way for reason-
able speculation, which is in harmony with the probable truth
of the traditions preserved by Scottish writers in reference to
our Royal House.

I have not been able to discover the original authorities for
the various branches of the genealogical tree'by which Fleance
is traced by descent to King Kenneth I. The older gencal-
ogists and heraldic writers quoted from old family histories
in MS.,, many of which have been lost. I append a pedigree
compiled from these family trees (Appendix IL), without any
acknowledgment of its accuracy. It is not in harmony with
the Irish pedigrees, which were more likely to be correct.

1 ¢ Memoir on the subject of the Origines of the FitzAlans and Stuarts,” MS.,
chap. iii.



The Origin of the Royal Stewarts. 25

My hypothesis is that Fredald or Flaald, which is simply
an official title, was Fleance, the father of Alan, and of the
succeeding Stewards of Dol, together with the Fitz Alans of
England and the succeeding Stewards of Scotland. 1 further
contend that the much-abused Boece had good grounds for
believing the accounts of his predecessors, which traced the
Stewarts through Banquo to the ancient dynasties of our
native land.

Fledald, whom we must equate with Flaald, the father of
Alan, the English settler under Henry 1., held the seneschal-
ship during the unhappy tenure of the See of Dol by the
amorous Juhellus (1040-1078), who equally defied the Pope
in his lascivious and in his military career. This Juhell was
a dear bishop to the Bretons, being mixed up in those un-
fortunate intrigues which ended in wars with the Normans,
who appeared several times before the walls of Dol to humili-
ate the Knight of Combourg in what William the Conqueror
styled “une orgucilleuse bicoque” —a proud little shanty.
The shanty appears on the Bayeux Tapestry in defiant great-
ness. An adventurer could not have found a home ecasier
than under Juhell or Rivallon, the chief of the rebels in Brit-
tany. If he had pretensions to royal lineage, it would be
easier for him also to attain to so high an honour as that of
Seneschal of the district, should an opportunity have oc-
curred. As Juhell was a Simonist and a despoiler of the
Church lands, which he gave to his family and his supporters,
he might have reason for appointing a stranger to the im-
portant office of Seneschal, wherein he had to administer the
secular affairs of the province, to collect the ecclesiastical
rents and dues, and to regulate the official life of his lordly
master and his subordinates.
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On the street called “La Grand Rue” of Dol still remains
an imposing edifice built of granite, in the purest Norman
style of architecture of the twelfth century, which tradition
names “La Maison des Plaids,” and avers was the revenue
office and court-house of the archbishops. This name, “ The
House of the Plaids,” is touchingly significant of Fleance
with the royal wearers of the tartan, who lifted the tithes
and the taxes, and “dantoned ” the enemies of his master, as
his fathers had done!?

The office of Seneschal had a lowly origin, probably in the
responsible work of the upper servant (Gothic, skalks, a
servant), senior (Gothic, sius, old) or otherwise, who was
trusted with the oversight of his lord’s household, or, as
Vossius held, his flock of sheep (son, seneste, or sente). The
oversight of his cattle led to his being known among the
Teutonic nations as the Stiward, or warden of the stye (A.S.
stigo, weard).

From seniority as a servant this official rose to be superin-
tendent of the other domestic servitors, taster of his master’s
food, master of the house, and treasurer of the revenues.
The mastership of the palace was a position of honour and
trust, sometimes held by the heir-apparent, and always by
one of royal or noble blood, who was privileged to carry the
royal banner into battle. In Scotland the Steward of the

king was at first simply the “Seneschallus Domus Domini

1 ¢Dol-de-Bretagne,” par Charles Robert, 1892, p. 5: ‘“On lui donne le nom
de Maison des Plaids. Clest 1a que, au moins avant le xvie siécle, se serait rendue
la justice et exercée la juridiction temporelle de ’évéque de Dol. Les sentences
auraient été proclamées au peuple par les deux baies supérieures.” For lands of
Dol sec “Enqueste de Dol faite en 1181 par ordre de Henri II., Roy d’Angle-
terre,” Lobineau, tom. ii. fol. 132.
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Regis,” or “Dapifer,” but was advanced through time to
the higher dignity of Steward of the kingdom, “ Seneschallus
Scotiz,” in the thirteenth century.

That the Breton equivalent for the Seneschal was Fredald,
Fledald, or Flaald will presently appear. This we infer was

La Maison des Plaids.

the name of Alan’s father, from this circumstance, that when
William, a monk of St Florent-prés-Saumur, and elder
brother of John, Lord of Combourg, along with his brothers,
gave the township of Mezuoit beside the Castle of Dol to the
monastery of St Florent-sous-Dol, of which William became
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Abbot, some time between 1079 and 1081, not only is “Alanus
Senescallus” a witness to the gift, but the deed declares that
Alan was himself a donor of the village oven and his right of
the sale of bread therewith, which gifts were homologated by
his brother Fledald on condition that a younger brother,
Rivallon, was admitted to the novitiate (see Appendices
VIIL, XI.) The monopoly of bread-making must have been
a fee of the Seneschal, and consequently hereditary in that
office, descending from Fredald to Alan and his brothers or
next of kin.

Underneath the different forms in which the name Flaald,
and its cognates, appear — Fleald, Flaald, Flaad, Floaud,
Flahald, Fladald, Fledald, Flodwald, Flodoald, Fredald—lies
a root common to all, namely, flad. This is evidently the
Goidelic word flead/ (pronounced flay), which in Old Irish is
Sled, signifying a meal. The Old High German word to rule is
waltan : wald, a ward. So in the compound Flad-wald, the
ruler of the meal, we have a similar instance of word-coining
observed in the term lord, A.S. /Zlaf~ward, ruler of the loaf.
Nor is this all the coincidence: the Gothic frefur, in German
Jressen, corresponds with our word to eat, so that Fret-wald is
a form synonymous with Fledwald. In the Romance tongue
of France, flan, flanc, flans is defined to be “a sorte of cake,
or piece of pastry which is made of flour, butter, milk, and
eggs; in Low Latin, flado, flanto”* In Flemish the same
word appears as vlade: German, fladen.

If, then, we identify the fugitive Fleanchus with the Flaald
of Dol, although Boece declares that the Prince of Wales

slew him, we might harmonise many apparent discrepancies

1 ¢Glossaire de la Langue romaine,’ par. J. B. B. Roquefort, p. 606. Paris, 1808,
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manor descended from heir to heir to John the son of Alan,
who is now in the custody of the king,” &c.l—(see Appendix
IV.) In another inquest held in 1305, this hundred is men-
tioned as “hundreda de Flando (or Flaudo), filio? Alani,
quondam Domino de Milham,” &c® Fitz Alyne is among
the list of the conquerors of England in the Battle Abbey
charter ;¢ Fitz Alayne appears in Leland’s list ;% Fitz Aleyn
in Grafton’s Chronicle.

That Alan the son of Flaald possessed property in Norfolk
and at Mileham is shown by a charter preserved in the White
Book of St Florent, by which Alan gives to the monks of St
Florent-prés-Saumur, for the safety of his soul, the church of
Sporle and its tithes, and besides other rich gifts of fuel and
pasturage, a hundred acres of land in Melehan (Milaham).
(See Appendix V.)

These lands formerly were possessed by Stigand, the
patriotic Archbishop of Canterbury, whom William the
Conqueror drove into exile in 1071, and probably became
part of the spoil of that “audacious athlete,” Raoul de Gaél,
whom William made Earl of Norfolk for assisting him in
the campaign of 1070. According to the Saxon Chronicle,
Raoul was a Welshman on his mother’s side, and his father
was an Englishman named Ralph and born in Norfolk, so
that Flancus had in him a congenial comrade among the
Breton auxiliaries who, from Dinan, Dol, and Combourg, for

the second time threw in their swords with the Norman

¢ Hundred Rolls,’ vol. i. p. 434.

Probably clerical mistake for pa#re, or an addition.

‘Cal. Gen. Henry IIL. and Edward I.,’ ed. Charles Roberts, vol. ii. p. 687,
¢ Script. rer. Normann.,’ p. 1023. 5 ¢ Collectanea,’ ed. Hearne, p. 208.
¢ Chronicle of Bsiteyn,’ p. 4, 1568 ed. 7 Under ann. 1075.
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invader. Flaald could then be in the prime of manhood,
too. But his Scottish name does not appear in the Domes-
day Book, unless he is to be identified with one of the many
Alans found therein, which is quite probable. That Flaald
joined destinies with the rebellious Raoul, whom William
deprived of his lands and chased back to Dol, can only be
hypothetical, although it readily explains why Alan, who
accompanied Raoul in the Crusade of 1096, was not in a
position in England to evince his customary liberality to the
Church until the reign of his patron, Henry I., when Breton
influence was a desirable buttress to an unstable throne.

Flaald disappears from the historic page as mysteriously as
he came, somewhere about the year 1079, when Alan assumed
the Seneschalship.

In treating of Alan FitzFlaald we are fortunate in possess-
ing many charters which bear his name, as witness to the
generosity of his feudal superiors, and as donor of many
benefactions to churches, both in England and Brittany, con-
nected with the Great Monastery of the Benedictine Order at
Marmoutier.

If our assumption be warranted that Alan was the son of
Fleance, he might have been sufficiently old to have borne
arms with those adventurous Bretons who, under the two
sons of the Earl of Brittany, Briant and Alan, Raoul de Gaél,
and other warriors, distinguished themselves at Hastings, hav-
ing in 1066 probably attained to his majority.

Where he won his spurs can only be conjectured. But it
is not likely that he stayed to watch the pancakes turning in
‘Dol when the air was full of the romance of the Conquest, or
local free-lances recited how the hand of Hereward himself
laid low Raoul of Dol.
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Alan, as the eldest son of his father, inherited, with the
occupancy of the seneschalship, some lands which lay in the
immediate vicinity of Dol. In the disposition of these by
himself and his descendants we are able to trace a little of
his personal history.

Somewhere between 1063 and 1034, when Abbot Bartholo-
mew ruled the great Monastery of Marmoutier, Maino, the
lord of Ercé, came to him and craved him to descend to the
little village of Guguen, some eight miles south of Dol, and
heal his two sons, Hanio and Gauter, who were stricken with
leprosy there. By the sign of the cross and a kiss of love
from the venerable abbot, the youths arose miraculously
cured. The father and grandfather, with their whole house
and their retinue, made gifts of gratitude to the monastery—
among which “Alan, the son of Floaud, conceded to the
abbot and monks of Combourg whatsoever right he had in
the church of Guguen” (see Appendix VI.)

From this the Earl of Crawford and Balcarres concluded
that Alan held this property from the house of Lohéac in
right of his wife, who was a daughter of Maino, and not
hereditarily.

The Lords of Dol were conspicuous for their benefactions
to their favourite house in Marmoutier ; and when John and
his brother Gilduin dedicated the township of Mezuoit and
its privileges to the Benedictines, and John founded and
erected the priory of St Martin and St Florent there, Alan
the Seneschal, on his part, gave the bakery and the bread
monopoly to the monks, and Eventius, the Archbishop of
Dol, between 1076 and 1081, completed the donation with
his benediction (see Appendix VII.)

Alan next appears as a Crusader, among that daring com-
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also a Scottish kinsman to his queen. These factors led to
casy and certain advancement at the English Court. His
influence had been further increased by alliance with the
powerful family of Hesdin in Artois, when he wedded
Adeliza (Adelina or Avelina), the coheiress of Ernulf de
Hesdin, son of the Count of Hesdin and Avoué, probably
after his return from the crusade.

So chivalrous a knight was just such a buttress to the
throne as the king would secure in the debatable frontiers
of his realm, where family associations might make up for a
weak military position among unsettled lieges. So where he
had spent his boyhood, probably at Old Oswestry—QOswald’s
tree, where Oswald and Penda fought in the perilous stretch
of land between Offa and Wat’s dyke, whose meads were
fattened by Cambrian and Saxon flood—Alan was given his
fortified home.! At the beginning of the twelfth century
records show him invested in the whole Honour of Shrop-
shire, carrying with it lands in Warwickshire, Staffordshire,
and Sussex, formerly held by Warin, then deceased : “ Alanus
filius Fladaldi honorem Vicecomitis Warin post filium ejus
[Hugo] suscepit.”2 This fresh favour may have been one of
the consequences of the struggle between Henry and Robert,
his brother, which gave rise to the revolt of Eairl Robert de
Belesme, suzerain of the Honour, who forfeited his lands and
was exiled in 11023 As yet, however, we can throw no light

on the reference in Blind Harry’s ¢ Wallace’ to the episode

-1 Leland, ¢Collect.,” vol. i. p. 231, quoting ‘Ryme of the Gestes of Guarine,’
has: ‘¢ Alane Fleilsone had gyven to him Oswaldestre.”
2 ¢ Monasticon,’ vol. iil., 519, col. A. 3 ¢ Ordericus Vitalis,” pp. 806, 807.
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when “the gud Wallas,” grandfather of William, a retainer of
Alan’s, performed some worthy deed—

“Quhen Waltyr hyr of Waillis fra Warayn socht”?

—an episode, probably, of later date than this epoch.

It was long erroneously settled that Alan had obtained the
shrievalty by marriage with the supposed daughter of Warin.
Rather it was a political reward.

The Salop Chartulary, The White Book of St Florent,
and other authorities display Alan munificently enriching the
churches in which he was interested, especially those which
had sprung from St Florent-prés-Saumur, a daughter of the
great Monastery—benefactions which his descendants homolo-
gated (see Appendices VIII, IX.) “Alanus filius Flaaldi,” as
he is styled, with Adelina his wife, gave lands at Komeston
and Sporle in Norfolk to the priory of Castle Acre, a depend-
ency of Lewes, the chief Cluniac abbey in England? But he
seems to have died about 1114, leaving Adeliza and a young
family, Jordan, William, Walter, Simon, and Sibil, enfeoffed in
various properties in England and Brittany.

From a charter in which Alan the son of Jordan confirms
his grandfather’s gift of the tithe of the lordship of Burton to
the monks of St Magloire de Lehon (1161) it is to be inferred
that Jordan was the eldest of the family—“ Ego siquidem
Alanus Jordani filius primogenitus supradictorum descen-
dens,” &c.,—and that Alan junior was Jordan’s eldest son
(see Appendices VIII., IX,, XIL) The peculiarity of this lan-
guage might create the impression that Alan senior had been
twice married, and that Jordan was of the first marriage, and

1 ¢ Wallace,’ bk. i. 1. 32, 2 ¢ Monasticon,’ v. p. 31, ed. Bandinel and Ellis,
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Alan, which was fraught with the most important destinies
in both kingdoms, to be wrought out two centuries after-
wards. It was a school of policy, in which the prince learned
much that was profitable to his own realm—the most bene-
ficial lesson being that of surrounding his own throne with
chivalrous warriors ever ready to lift the gage for their royal
master.

Among his retinue were many possessed of thirsty swords
—both the discontented scions of old Saxon nobility, alien-
ated by Henry, and the restless young cavaliers of Norman
lineage—who were eager to take and hold any unsettled part
of Scotland by the prowess of their blades.

After the quarrel arose between David’s niece, the Em-
press-Queen Matilda, and Stephen as to the throne of England
in 1135, David embraced the cause of the former, and those
loyal to Matilda rallied around The Dragon of Wessex, which
was the standard in battle of the Scots king.

In the miserable epoch which succeeded the death of
Henry, when England was embroiled in internecine war, the
Fitz Alans and King David were true to their vow of fealty
to the Empress Maud, and became her conspicuous defenders
against King Stephen, for which devotion they had to suffer
forfeiture of their lands™in England. The brother-in law of
Alan, Ernulph, the brave defender of Shrewsbury in Maud’s
interest, met a shameful death at the hands of Stephen. After
the serious reverses to Maud’s cause in the south in the
summer of 1141, William and Walter Fitz Alan, along with
King David, appear at her Court in Oxford. And when that
cause totally collapsed, and the Empress had to seek refuge
abroad, Walter had no other seat save his saddle, on which,
like many another free-lance, he crossed the Scottish border
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to enter the service of the Scots king, with whom he appears
at Melrose in 1142, Then began the influx of Norman war-
riors, whom David gathered round him to carry out the
feudalisation of his realm, and whom he secured in their
moated holds guarding the rich lands he granted to them.

Another friend of David’s was Thomas de Lundin, the
Doorward, whose daughter, Eschina,? married Walter Fitz
Alan, and brought him the lands of Molla and Huntland in
Roxburghshire, parts of which she gave to Paisley Priory.

When early in his reign David granted to Robert the Brus
his lands in the valley of Annan (1124-1140), Walter Fitz
Alan, so designed, was present to witness the charter at
Stapelgortune, and he survived till, as “ Dapifer Regis Scotiz,”
or Steward, he was called in as witness to the Charter of Con-
firmation by William the Lion, in 1166, in the Castle of Loch-
maben.? Little indeed could these two barons imagine that
their families would unite, long afterwards, to place a king of
their own blood upon the throne of David, and to save the
independence of a nation, which they as aliens then had
adopted.

David settled Walter in the fat lands watered by the Cart
and bounded by the Clyde, where Paisley presently thrives,
no doubt for military reasons as well,—as the Charter of Mal-
colm IV. declares, “on account of the service which he himself
rendered to King David.” He further complimented him
with portions of his own private lands in Partick, as well as

with lands in various parts of the realm, to sustain him in the

1 ¢Lib. Sanct. Mar, de Melros’ (Bann. Club), p. 4.

2 Eschina first married Robert de Croc: their daughter Isabel married a
Lyndsay.

3 Bain, ‘Calendar,’ vol. i. No. 29; ibid., No. 105.
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Seneschalship, to be held by himself and his heirs of me and my heirs,
freely in fee and heritage, as well and as fully as King David better and
more fully gave and granted to him his Seneschalship, and as himself
holds it from him better and more fully ; farther, I myself give, and by
this same charter confirm, to the same Walter in fee and heritage,
on account of the service which he himself rendered to King David
and myself, Prethe [Partick], as much as King David held in his
own hand, and Inchenan [Inchinnan], Stemtum [Stenton], and
Halestinesdene [Hassendean in Teviotdale], and I.eguardsuade
[Legertwood in Lauderdale], and Birchinsyde [Birkhillside in
Lauderdale] ; and besides, in every one of my Burghs, and in every
one of my demesne dwellings [dominica Gista], throughout my whole
land, an entire Toft to make him a residence there, and with each
Toft twenty acres of land : wherefore I will and direct that the same
Walter and his heir in fee and heritage hold off me and my heirs, in
chief, all the foresaid, as well those which he himself possesses by gift
of King David as these which he has from my gift, with all their
pertinents, and rights, and through right divisions of all the foresaid
lands, freely and quietly, honourably and in peace, with sac [Ze., right
to try causes] and soc [exemption from customary burdens, and right
to impose others], with tol [right to hold markets], and them [right
of holding bondmen], and infangtheeffe [jurisdiction over thieves],
in manors, in shealings, in plains, in meadows, in pasture-lands, in
moors, in waters, in mills, in fisheries, in forests, in wood and open,
in ways and by-ways, as any one of my barons more freely and
quietly holds of me his fief, —by rendering to me and my heirs for
that fief the service of five soldiers.”

The names of the attesting witnesses are interesting, as
showing the dignitaries and landholders of the day:—

“Ernest Bishop of Saint Andrews, Herbert Bishop of Glasgow,
John Abbot of Kelso, William Abbot of Melrose, Walter the
Chancellor, William and David, brothers of the king, Earl Gos-
patrick, Earl Duncan, Richard de Morweill, Gilbert de Wmphraweill,
Robert de Bruis, Radolph de Soulis, Philip de Colveille, William de
Sumervilla, Hugo Riddell, David Olifard, Valden son of Earl Gos-
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patrick, William de Morweill, Baldwin de la Mar, Liolf son of
Maccus. At the castle of Roxburgh, on the Festival of John the
Baptist, in the fifth year of our reign.”!?

This ward-holding charter, as it was called, granted to the
king’s house-steward for military service, does not take the
Fitz Alans further back than to King David’s reign, and, as
will be noticed, contains no reference to tenure of land in
Bute, which originally may have been a demesne of the
Dalriadic kings. Rothesay may have been an early burgh,
and around its royal castle the Steward may have possessed
his twenty-acre toft; but it is not till nearly fifty years after
this date that we find Alan the son of Walter, in 1204, able
to dispone land in Bute to Paisley Priory.

We must now turn aside for a moment to investigate a
most remarkable claim made in 1336 by Richard Fitz Alan,
Earl of Arundel, to be considered the Steward of Scotland
by hereditary right, “de Senescalcia Scotiz (qua ad eum
Jure Hareditatem spectat”), and which suggests the idea
that, after all, Walter had been chosen to be Steward because
it was an office held by Banquo his grandfather and his
family. The Earl of Arundel, when with Edward III in
Scotland, sold his alleged right to the king for a thousand
merks; and this sale was afterwards confirmed by Edward
Baliol, so that there might be no doubt as to the property of
the subject. The instrument of the king ordaining the price
to be paid was signed at Bothvill on the 28th November
13362 Arundel’s claim must have been based upon the fact

"1 Original printed in George Crawfurd’s ¢ Gen. Hist. of Stewarts,” p. 2.

2 Rymer’s ‘Acta Anglie,” tom. iv. p. 719, No. 1218 ; ¢ Caledonia,’ vol. i. p. 574 ;
¢Clause Roll,” 13 Ed. IIL; Stewartiana,” p. 58 ; ‘Scotland under her Early
Kings,’ vol. i. p. 184.
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that he was lineal descendant, as he was, of William Fitz
Alan, elder brother of Walter, the holder of the Stewardship
in David’s reign, and further, that Walter only held the office
because of his descent from Alan, William not being in a
position as a Scottish vassal to act on his father’s decease.
The assumption by the Edwards of what they deemed their
proper regality in Scotland altered the circumstances, and
made Arundel the rightful Steward, according to this conten-
tion, or because the cadet branch by rebellion had forfeited
their right, which returned to the representative of the family
in its elder branch. Unless, then, Arundel was acting under
some impression caused by the traditions of his family, that
the office was hereditary before the time of Walter Fitz Alan,
his claim was as barefaced as that of his liege lord to be con-
sidered Suzerain of Scotland. The claim, however, is in line
with the romance of Banquo, and cannot well be dismissed
until that mystery is solved. If it could be shown that the
Thanes of Lochaber had been the hereditary High-Stewards
at the Court of Kenneth and his descendants, which as yet is
impossible to prove, there might have been a basis for this
novel and unavailing claim., But the first Steward, who was
not even an earl or knight, held no patrimonial possessions in
Scotland, unless Bute was an exception; and we can only
surmise this from the fact that there is no charter granting
it to Walter (the Steward from 1204 to 1246), whom we find
in possession of Kingarth.

Walter inherited the devout and generous spirit of his
ancestry, and followed the example of King David in extend-
ing and munificently enriching the Church, and comforting
the lepers and the poor. In 1163 he founded the beautiful
Priory of Paisley, for the Glory of God and the Virgin Mary,
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heritage, covered with rich crops and fat cattle, never to
speak of deer, for which the forest of Cumbrae especially was
famous. No better ‘guerdon could a conqueror have offered
to a free-lance than this critically situated royalty, which no
“laggard in love or dastard in war” could retain mastery of.

Time, however, had at length dismounted this chivalrous
warrior, and made his lance too heavy for his hand, so that
he would fain lean on the Church for his support.!

As it was customary then for warriors tired of the tented
field to retire to the cloisters to engage in the heavenly
warfare, Walter exchanged the barred helm for the cowl of
Melrose Abbey, which already he had enriched with gifts,
‘among others, of land in Mauchline. And truthfully the
Abbey Chronicle might record :(—

“ Anno MCLXXVI] Walterus filius Alani, dapifer Regis Scotorum,
familiaris noster, diem obiit cujus beata anima vivat in gloria.”—1In
the year 1177 Walter, son of Alan, Steward of the King of Scots,
our friend, died to-day : may his blessed soul live in glory.?

Thus passed away from the stormy scenes of medieval
life a brilliant warrior, of whom unfortunately we know all
too little, and who is justly entitled to rank as one of the
makers of Scotland along with others now but faintly re-
membered. The date of his wife Eschina’s decease I have
not discovered.

1 The seal of Walter, used in disponing lands in Mauchline to Melrose about
1170, presents the figure of ‘“an armed knight on horseback, at full speed, a
lance with pennon couched in his right hand, and a shield on his left arm,” the
legend bearing ¢‘Sigillum Walteri filii Alani Dapiferi Reg.”” The counter-seal
presents ‘‘a warrior with a spear in his right hand, leaning against a pillar, and
with his left hand holding a horse.” Laing’s ¢ Scottish Seals,” p. 126, Nos. 769,
770, Plate iii. fig. 1; ‘Lib. Mel,,’ vol. ii., Plate vii., which is here reproduced.

2 ¢ Chronica de Mailros,” Edin., 1835 (Bann. Club, p. 88).
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eschal, mentioned above. Walter’'s own son Walter was also
called Seneschal, while Alexander his brother was called
“Seneschal of Scotland.” In 1296, Sir John Stewart of
Bonkyl is styled in a charter “John Senescal, brother to
James Senescal of Scotland.”? The Norwegian reference is
the first mention of the Seneschal under the Anglo-Saxon
designation of the Stivarl, or Steward, which became the
proud name of the Scottish dynasty. It has less pretty
associations than the term Seneschal, and refers to the
humble office of the keeper of the Sty (A.S. stigo, a sty;
weard, keeper, warden), who tended his master’s cattle to
provide food for his table ; and in a more luxurious time this
official rose to be master of the household of prelate, earl, or
baron. Before the Fitz Alans were called Stewarts they had
acquired this family name of “ Senescal,” which always ap-
pears in designating the various members of the different
branches of the family, in documents in Latin.

On the death of Alan, Lord of Galloway, in 1233-34, the
Gallovidians rose in revolt against the government for not
acceding to their selection of an overlord, and the king, with
a well-appointed army, accompanied by Walter the Steward,
entered Galloway to quell the revolt. After a severe casti-
gation, the rebels, assisted by a host of Irish, revolted in the
succeeding year, and Walter the Steward and the Earl of
Dunbar were sent again to restore the peace.?

On the 4th March 1239, Johanna, Queen of Scots, died.
The desire, or the Council, of the king did not give him long
time to mourn. Walter the Steward was despatched with

1 And. Stuart, ¢ Gen. Hist.,” p. 45.
2 ¢ Chron. Mel.,” pp. 144, 145 ; Ilolinshed, p. 395; Fordun, ix.
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succumbed to the heat and the pestilence ; among them, no
doubt, a choice band of Brandanes from Bute.

According to the ¢ Chronicle of Melrose, Walter, junior, died
in 1141, but this is a mistake, as the Register of Paisley
preserves a charter granted by him in 1246, conveying to
the monastery the goods of the monks of Simpringham at
Dalmellington.

Walter left four sons, Alexander, John, Walter (Earl of
Menteith, 1220-1296), and William; and two daughters,
Christian and Margaret.

Alexander the Steward shares the glory of driving the
brilliant King Haco and his daring host off Scottish soil into
the sea, and of securing the peace of his country from Norse
invasions, by the famous land and sea fight of Largs, on 2d
October 1263. The youthful Alexander III. was king, and
two great antagonistic parties of northern and of southern
nobles kept up strained relations in the country. The
Steward, Alexander, was not of the national party, but bent
to English influences; and during the minority of Alexander
III. was appointed one of the fifteen guardians of the king
and queen, at Roxburgh, 2oth September 1255. Through
quarrelsome factions interfering, another regency, of which
Alexander was one, had to be appointed three years later.

The national party under Comyn, Baliol, and Menteith
soon threw the land into anarchy, seized the king, and
scattered their opponents for a time. But the balance turned,
and after the Earl of Menteith’s death in 1258, his property
was divided between Walter Senescal and William Comyn,
the former becoming Earl of Menteith.

1 “1141: Obiit Walterus filius Alani Junioris.”—* Chron, Mel.,” p. 151.
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with his colleagues, and entered into alliance with other
nobles, including his brother-in-law, Richard de Burgh, after-
wards taking up a position which necessitated him calling out
his retainers in Kyle for personal protection! There was
peril of anarchy ensuing when the Kings of Norway and
England interfered in Scottish affairs, and mutually agreed
to the treaty of Brigham in 1290, which was based on the
proposed marriage of Margaret and Edward. But the death
of Margaret blasted the hopes of peace, and “the kingdom
was troubled, and its inhabitants sunk into despair.”

In 1288, James the Steward acted as Sheriff of Ayr and
Bute, and his brother John became security for his actings,
and those of his attorney.

On zoth September 1286, the two Senescals were the guests
of the Bruce at Turnbury Castle, where, with him and other
Scots and English nobles, they sign a bond—“ The Turnbury
Bond "—for mutual defence, alone reserving their allegiance
to him “ who has a right to reign,”—a sufficiently comprehen-
sive designation of the future King of Scots. That was soon
to be a problem of vast importance. As one of the six
guardians of little Queen Margaret’s interests—custodes
regni Scotiee "—James appears resenting the harsh treatment
of the King of England on the one hand, and meting out
stern reprisals upon the English lieges on the other, and
otherwise performing the duties of his office.

When in 1290 the Queen died, the bloody struggle for the
Crown began, and “a devil’s dozen” of competitors appeared
to claim, and determined to win, it, with their murder-tools, if

need be. Every one of them, as much as Bruce the younger,

1 ¢Lib. Mel.,’ p. 359.
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had a henchman to “mak siccar” his ambitious work. Over
all appeared the spectre of Edward I, “Lord Paramount of
the Kingdom of Scotland,” who soon came in the flesh, to
take his reélm, in the name of Saint Edward. The Steward
was one of the brilliant crowd of Scots chivalry—the most
magnificent that ever met “the auld enemy” in Scotland in
times of peace—who assembled on the verdant mead of Nor-
ham in May 1291, to hand over the Independence of Scotland
to the English king. It beets one’s blood to recount such a
miserable instance of national imbecility and pusillanimity—
wherein proud Wallace had no share—as this by which the
Crown of Scotland was so meekly laid at the feet of Edward.
Mark, of Sodor, was the only bishop who swore fealty at this
time. The only excuse one can frame for the Steward is that
his motto was not that of Edward, “ Serva pactum,” and that
when he demitted his Regency and accepted it again (11th
June 1291), under the shadow of the temporised throne beneath
the yellow battlements of Norham, he was only playing the
political patriotic game in which he afterwards was so suc-
cessful.

The Steward’s predilections were in favour of Bruce, and
in 1292 (June 14), James entered into an Indenture of Mutual
Defence between Florence, Count of Holland, and Robert
Bruce of Annandale, with covenants respecting the division of
the realm of Scotland between them,—the terms being that
he who succeeded to the throne was to assign one-third of the
realm to the other. Perhaps the blood of Banquo was
beginning to show its royalty in his descendant, after he felt
the iron heel of Edward on his fatherland in 1291. Every
castle, save Rothesay, had its proud English warden within
it. John Baliol was the vassal-king of Scots, and all the
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nobles had fallen into a trap and become vassals of England.
In 1292 John Baliol included Bute in the Sheriffdom of Ken-
tyr (Kintyre).

The interference of Edward in Scots affairs became intol-
erable, and caused a rupture with Baliol and a wanton war
with the Scots in 1295. The ruthless Southron king marched
North with sword and brand, and soon left no sanctuary for
youth nor eld, for women or clergy, in the hapless land. In
the town of Berwick, 3oth March 1296, all were put to the
sword, for the Hammer of the Scots had sworn he would ex-
tinguish the rebel breed. It was said that the stream of
Scottish blood drove the mill-wheel of Berwick that day.
And, according to Wyntoun, the life of Scotland would have
been swept out on that tide of “rede blood,” had- not the
sight of a woman, assisted to give birth to her child by the
sword of a ruffian, touched the last spark of pity in Edward,
drawn his hindmost tear, and slacked his fury. The men
of Scotland had their travail too at the point of the sword,
and waited the birth of freedom. The patriot’s blade was
resting, not rusting, in its scabbard. Menaced by armies of
Welsh vagabonds and pardoned homicides from Ireland,
whom Edward had drafted into his conquering hordes, the
Scots barons and chiefs were forced to offer their fealty to the
English king—no doubt against their better nature.

On the 5th May 1296, among nearly two thousand names
of those who swore fealty to Edward, first appears James,
Seneschal of Scotland, followed by John his brother,! both of

- 1 Ragman Roll, pp. 61, 62. ¢‘5 May (24 Ed.) at Rokesburgh: A touz ceaus
qui cestes lettres uerront on orront James Seneschal Descoce Saluz; ” also . . .
Johan Seneschal frere mon sire James Senescal Descoce Saluz;” ¢‘ Johannes
quondam Senescalli predicti domini Jacobi Germanus miles.”
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whom append their seals, of which the accompanying engrav-

ings (copied from And. Stuart’s * Hist.’) are a representation.

No. 1. Seal of James, Steward of Scotland. No. 2. Seal of John Stewart of Bonkyl.
No. 3. Seal of Robert, Steward of Scotland.

In July 1296, the Steward and Bruce, among other nobles,
were commanded by their assumed licge-lord Edward to ac-
company Antony Bek, Bishop of Durham, to the churchyard

of Stracathro in Forfarshire, and witness the servile Bishop,
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William Douglas, the Bishop of Glasgow, and others, to throw
in their swords with the national party in the summer of 1297.
The receipt of the news of this rebellion had incited Alexander
de Yle to take possession of “a certain castle with a barony
named Glasrog [=Glascog=Glass of Ascog] which the said
Senescal held by seisin of King Edward.”* For this piece
of Somerledian spite King Robert Bruce afterwards made
Alexander long count his beads in the dark dungeon of the
Steward’s castle at Dundonald. This outbreak soon collapsed,
and these notables capitulated in Irvine—Douglas, who had
married Elizabeth, a sister of the Steward, being led off in irons
to an English prison. James and John sent in their sub-
mission soon after.?

Then Bute became a rendezvous for the friends of Scottish
nationality, who lurked under protection of the Castle of
Rothesay, as Sinclair, Bishop of Dunkeld, and staunch friend
of Wallace, did :—

*“To saiff his lyff, thre 3er he duelt in But;
Leifyde as he mycht, and kepyt ay gud part,
Whndir saifte off Jamys than Lord Stewart.” 3

Many of the Scots clergy were patriotic in the War of
Independence. John Blair, for example, attached himself to
the heroic outlaws, and appears at one time saying Mass, anon
clad in burnished mail with steel truncheon in his hand, and
again stealing away in his priestly dress to warn the men of
Bute to come to the assistance of Wallace. The short shrift
which the English gave to the conference of noble Scots who
unsuspectingly came to the Barns of Ayr, wherein Mont-

1 ¢ Hist. Documents,’” vol. ii. p. 191.
% (25 Edward 1.) Palgrave’s ¢ Doc. and Records,” pp. 152, 197.
3 Henry the Minstrel’s ¢ Wallace,” bk. vii. 1. 936-938.
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drove his associates into submission again. The Steward
had now to succumb. The deed expressing the Steward’s
submission is interesting, in showing how great servility the
“Hammer of Scotland ” demanded of the hapless Scots. It
is in French, and was sealed before the Lord Chancellor at

Westminster :—

“To all those persons who shall see or hear these letters, James,
formerly Steward of Scotland, wishes greeting in God.

“Know ye that whereas I (being in the homage, faith, and alleg-
iance of my Lord Edward, King of England, Lord of Ireland, and
Duke of Aquitaine), led by bad advice, have raised, and caused to
raise war against my said lord, and thereto was assenting and pro-
curing and aiding his enemies, overtly and covertly to my power,
against my said homage, fealty, and allegiance, whereof I perceive,
know, and acknowledge myself culpable, I, of my good and free
will, have surrendered and do surrender myself entirely, absolutely,
and completely to the will of my said lord. And albeit that, moved
by pity towards me, he has granted me a special grace, and beyond
what I have deserved in this matter, as to my pardon of life and
limb, and of release from imprisonment, nevertheless, I have sub-
mitted and do submit myself entirely to the will of my said lord,
and will and grant that he should do to my body, and whatever I
have or can have, and all the lands and tenements which were
mine at any time, or which may fall to me henceforth in any man-
ner whatever, in the land of Scotland or elsewhere, and that he
should ordain, establish, and do fully at his will, and according to
what he pleases. And thereto I bind myself as strongly and as
fully as I know and can by this writing. In witness whereof, I have
thergto set my seal.

“Dated at Westminster, 3d November 1305, 33 Edw. 1.”1

Of the hapless Wallace, in his death, it may be fitly said—

“To weep would do thy glory wrong,
Thou shalt not be deplored.”

1 ¢ Hist. Doc. Scot.,” vol. ii. p. 495.
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“The flower of Christendom,” as courtiers called Edward,
was now afoot, pushing north for the eighth time, to blossom
red with slaughter on Scottish soil, under the July sun of
1307. But a stronger king than he was in the camp to roll
his crown in the dust; and when death drew near, no more
news of hostings, hangings, and quarterings could give to
his moody spirit the brutal joy he often had in hearing of
disasters to the Scots. He had to lay down his Hammer
(Malleus Scotorum), and the anvil rested a while and re-
sounded not with the din of war.

The Bruce and his henchman the Steward were not afraid
of the more chicken-hearted Edward II., who soon retreated
beyond the Borders. The national cause grew stronger. In
the spring of 1309, James the Steward with other nobles
formed an embassy to the Court of France to announce their
acknowledgment of Robert Bruce as the rightful sovereign
of Scotland. The duties of courtiership, however, had been
too much for the ambassador.

On the 16th July 1309, James died, and was interred in
Paisley Abbey. Nor was death long in disrobing Antony Bek
as completely of his earthly adornments as that bishop had
stripped John Baliol. Over all marched the irresistible
conqueror, breathing the invincible spirit of Freedom, which
was to bring peace, as Barbour sang:—

“ Fredome mayss man to haiff liking ;
Fredome all solace to man giffis :
He levys at ess that frely levys.”
If ever a Scotsman realised that noble sentiment it was James
the Steward, who did more than any other to build up the
prestige of his country.
James the Steward married, first, Egidia, sister of Richard
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he won his knightly spurs. The opposing hosts lay before
each other at Bannockburn. Of the four divisions of the
Scots army, the third, the left wing, was intrusted to Douglas
and Walter Stewart :—
“ And syne the thrid battale he gaf
* To Valtir Stewart for to leid,
And till Dowglass douchty of deid.
Thai war cosyngis in neir degre,
Tharfor till hym betaucht wes he,
For he wes young ; and, nocht-for-thi,
I trow he sall sa manfully
Do his dewour, and virk so weill,
Than hym sall neyd no mair themseill.”1

To a youth of twenty-two this was a most responsible charge.
However, his conduct on the field of battle became his mighty
instructor, the Douglas. The king had the Carrick men and
the redshanks of “ Anguss of Ylis and But,” in the rear of the

van. Among these “ brave sons of Innisgail,” who

“ Beneath their chieftains rank’d their files
In many a plaided band,”

may have mustered those Butemen who were vassals of
Angus. They, too, share the praise King Robert, according
to tradition, gave to Angus for his family motto, “ My trust
is constant in thee.”

The Scots answered an early tattoo on Monday morning,
the 24th June 1314. They had their “mess” to say and
their oaten “ sop ” to take before they assembled in their gay
masses, with variegated banners, lit up with glittering arms, as
if they were a host of angels. Before the king dressed their
ranks, he called out to kneel upon the sward, among others,

1 ¢The Bruce,” bk. xi. 1. 321-329.
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who resented the plots of Edward Baliol and the pretensions
of the English king. Where he spent his boyhood in those
less perilous days, when bold Randolph was a terror to
evildoers from Lochar Moss to Loch Awe, I can only pre-
sume to have been among the rounded hills of Durrisdeer,
where his uncle and tutor Sir James Stewart had his forti-
fied home, and where his aunt Egidia and her husband Sir
Alexander de Menyers or Menzies dwelt in the castle of
Enoch. This romantic home, now a verdant mound, over-
looks the lovely vale and linns of the Carron, still full of
as dainty trout as ever fascinated a youthful eye. But this
was no time for idle sport, when the chaplet itself had fallen
from Randolph’s helm, and he lay dead with honour, as his
successor Mar, with dishonour, lay on Dupplin Moor in 1332.
Scotland cried aloud for a Joshua, and all she could obtain
was Sir Andrew Moray of Bothwell, the Regent, who was
the Steward’s granduncle, till Douglas, the bastard knight
of Liddesdale, assumed the regency. Edward Baliol ac-
cepted the crown as a vassal of England. An insurrection
was brewing. !
Robert, the Steward, had all the martial ardour of his
ancestry, and joined Archibald Douglas, nicknamed “ Tine-
man,” and a body of cavalry at Moffat, and swooped down
on Baliol at Annan so suddenly that the kinglet was glad
to escape in his shirt into England—i16th December 1332.
Raids over the Borders followed, until the ire, of King
Edward was roused, and reprisals ensued. “Tineman,” how-
ever, soon bore down upon the English king, then sorely
pressing Berwick, and ventured to give his host battle on
the green hills of Halidon on 19th July 1333. Of the four
divisions of the Scots army, the Steward of Scotland, with



The Stewards of Scotland. 77

his uncle Sir James, led the second. By bad generalship
the Scots met a terrible discomfiture, in which the Regent
Douglas was mortally wounded, and the flower of his army
was either killed or made prisoners. Sir James Stewart was
mortally wounded and taken prisoner, and his kinsmen John
and Alan killed outright. The Steward himself escaped, and
fled for safety among the Brandanes in Bute. (See Chapter
II1.) With their aid he soon recaptured the castles of
Rothesay and Dunoon, invaded Renfrew and Galloway (July
22, 1334, ‘Chron. Lanercost’), and, with the assistance of the
men of Annandale and Kyle, made the governor of Ayrshire
submit.

The Earl of Athole was now seized by Baliol in the lands
of the Steward, and King Baliol celebrated a merry Christ-
mas in Renfrew in 1334, distributing his honours at the
expense of the Steward. After the country was once more
ravaged, the barons, with the Steward, were glad to treat
of peace with their Lord Paramount ; and in September 13335,
“ Edwarde the 3d cam from S. John’s tounne to Edingburgh,
whether cam Robert the Seneschal of Scotland unto hys
peace. This Robert was sunne to the doughter of Robert
Bruse, King of Scotland.”! Fordun thus describes the
Steward : “He was a comely youth, tall and robust, modest,
liberal, gay, and courteous ; and for innate sweetness of his
-disposition, generally beloved by true-hearted Scotsmen.”

Meantime Regent Moray and the Knight of Liddesdale
conducted an irritating and successful guerilla warfare, in
which they were encouraged by the King of France and his
guest the exiled King David. Moray died in 1338, and the

1 Leland, vol. i. p. 555, quoting ¢ Scala Chron.’
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Steward was appointed Regent. His policy was warlike,
masterly, and prompt. While his ally Douglas was hasting
to France to secure subsidies, Robert boldly prepared to
attack Baliol at Perth, the seat of his government, and at
the very nick of time Douglas reappeared with five French
men-of-war and many steel-clad warriors. Perth soon fell,
after it Stirling, and in a brief space there was not an
English soldier north of the Forth.

The Regent, imitating Randolph, soon restored the land to
order, and by politic methods prepared for the return of his
sovereign in 134I. David was a weak ruler, and soon per-
mitted himself to be embroiled in a fresh war, which ended in
his defeat and capture at Neville’s Cross, Durham, it is said
by the Queen of England herself, 17th October 1346. It was
a well-fought fight, in which the king, though wounded, dis-
played a courage worthy of his blood. The Steward and the
Earl of March, who commanded the left wing, after desperate
fighting, had to retreat, leaving dead on the field two John
Stewarts, Alan Stewart, and, as prisoners, John (of Dalswin-
ton), Alexander, and John Stewart, beside many other kins-
men and vassals.

David was taken to the Tower, and John Earl of Menteith
to the traitor’s gallows. Southern Scotland once more was in
English hands. The Steward, however, assumed the Regency
or locum tenens of King David with promptitude, until the
release of his sovereign in 1357, when his son John was given
as a hostage for the observance of the treaty of release. The
king’s lieutenant had no easy task in the irritable state of the
plague-struck, impoverished country, where several strong
garrisons were maintained by the Southron, such as Dalswin-
ton and Carlaverock, while fear made the Borderers lean to
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1368, and we learn from the Exchequer Accounts that Alex-
ander was still in custody in 1369.!

By the death of David II. on 22d February 1371, the
Steward was advanced to the throne, and the prophecy re-
garding the offspring of Banquo was fulfilled on the 26th
March following. At the Coronation at Scone appeared
Lord John, Senescal of the king, first-born, Earl of Carrick
and Senescal of Scotland ; Lord David Senescal, son of the
king, junior, Earl of Stratherne; Lord Robert Senescal, son
of the king, Earl of Menteith ; Lord Alexander Senescal, son
of the king; Alan Senescal, Robert Senescal, Alexander
Senescal, knights.?

On 27th March 1372, and again on 4th April 1373, Parlia-
ment drew up a deed of settlement of the Crown upon Lord
John, who, on his accession, for luck’s sake, changed his name
to Robert III, although during his Seneschalship he was
designated John, Seneschal of Scotland.

The eighteen years during which Robert II. reigned were
not characterised by any brilliant events, with the exception
of the battle of Otterburn in August 1388, which by the
romantic ballad of “Chevy Chase” is known to every reader.
Warfare now was only a serious pastime, however, of the
Scots nobility, who, inured to war, fell upon fighting as a good
sport, which, if not entailing death, always demanded of the
chivalrous “that at their departynge curtoysly they will say,
 God thank you.’” :

The king was a frequent visitor to Bute from 1379 onwards,
as will be shown in the account of the Castle of Rothesay.

1 ¢Excheq. Rolls,” vol. ii. p. 309.
2 Robertson’s ¢ Index,” Append., p. 3. Here I have retained the Latin form of
the word, ¢ Senescal,” instead of translating it by Steward.
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“Our Soveraine Lorde, And Estaites of this present Parliament :
Considdering the dailie in-crease of his Hienes charges and ex-
penses, and diminution of his Hienesse rentes of his propertie and
commoditie, throw unprofitable dispositiones maid thereof in time
bygane : Therefore thinkis expedient, that the landes and Lord-
shippes under-written, be annexed to the Crown; and presentlie
annexis the same thereto, followand the example of his Predecess-
oures, for the honorable support of his Estaite: and the same
Lands, Lord-ships, and utheris hereafter specified, to remaine per-
petuallie with the Crown: Quhilkis may nather be given awaie in
free frank-tenement, pension, or uther disposition to ony person, of
quhat estaite or degree that ever he be of, without advise, decreete,
and deliverance of the haill Parliament: And for great reasonable
causes, concerning the weill-fare of the Realme: First to be ad-
vised, and digestlie considdered be the haill Estaites. And albeit,
it sall happen our Soveraine Lord that now is, or ony of his Suc-
cessoures, Kinges of Scotland, to annalie and dispone the saidis
Landes, Lord-schippes, Castelles, Tounes, donation and advocation
of the Kirkes and Hospitalles, with the pertinentes, annexed to the
Croun, as said is, utherwise : That the same alienationes and dis-
positiones, sall be of nane availe; bot that it sall be lesum to his
Hienesse, and his Successoures, to receive the same landes and
rentes to their awin use; quhen ever it likis them, without ony
proces of Law : And the takers to refound and pay, all profites that
they have taken up thereof, againe to his Hienesse, and his suc-
cessoures uses, for all the time that they have had them, with sik
uther restrictiones, as ar conteined in the actes of Parliament,
maid be his maist Noble Progenitours, Kingis of Scotland, in their
annexationes to the Croun. They ar to say, the landes of Beau-
fort: The landes of Pettindreicht: The landes of Cowll: The
landes of Oneill : The landes of Fettircarne : The landes of Teiling
and Polgavie : The landes of Colbrandis-peth : The Erledome of
Marche : The landes of Trabeache and Teringzeane : The landes
of Carrict, Lesualt and Mennybrig: The landes of Cowell: The
landes and Lord-ship of Galloway, abone and beneath Cree: The
landes of Duncow : The Castle and landes of Lochmabene: The
landes of Glencharny and Glenmoreistoun : The landes of Discher









TOME OF WALTER, STEWARD OF SCOTLAND (WHO DIED IN 1326),
IN ST MARY'S CHAPEL, ROTHESAY.
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clangour when the ranks closed on each other.! And this is
not unlike the illustrations of them preserved in manuscripts
of two centuries earlier, when the “ Brandanes of Bute” were
the matchless soldiers of the “ War of Independence.”

In England the northern fighters had a terrible reputation
for temper, pride, and invincibleness, so much so that Bar-
tholomew de Glanville (1360) stated “ that among the Scots
‘tis held to be a base man’s part to die in his bed, but death
in battle they think a noble thing.” That was the spirit of
Douglas at Otterburn. This is exactly the character, too,
which the Wizard of the North gave the brave swordsmen of
the Debatable Land of two centuries afterwards :(—

“ Burghers to guard their townships bleed
But war’s the Borderer’s game;
Their gain, their glory, their delight
To sleep the day, maraud the night.”

The few pictures we have of “ The Brandanes” lead us to
infer that while they were as irresistible as “the wild Scots,”
they were always actuated by high patriotic principles when
they took the field. They were, as Ennius says, not
“hucksters for war,” but fighters for glory and freedom.

John of Fordun is the first writer who mentions the
followers of the Steward under the name of Brendans, when
describing the result of the battle of Falkirk: he narrates
how, “among whom, of the number of the nobles, John
Senescal with the Brandanis and Macduff of Fife and its in-
habitants were wellnigh extinguished.”? The next mention

of the Bute men under the clan name of Brandanes is found

1 ¢ Hist.,” p. 48, Scot. Hist. Soc. edit. X
% ¢Chron. Gent. Scot.:’ Gesta Ann., c. i. Skene’s edit., vol. i. p. 330,
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could nowise alienate from his lord, who possessed the rights
of his toil and his fruits—all, if he was a serf; part, if he was
a villein. Over him the lord had the right of “pit and
gallows,” or imprisonment and death. His family, if he was
permitted to have offspring, was entered in the baronial stud-
book. Should he fly away, he could be recovered by proving
his nativity. But if his overlord did not claim him, he was
accounted a freeman, after he had lived a year and a day in a
free burgh,'—a position the Brandanes only acquired when
they became the kindly tenants of the Crown. The freemen
in the old burghs had much more freedom. Landlords and
churchmen leased their lands to relatives and friends, who
became their vassals or “goodmen” (Duine Uasail), and
were equally bound during their tenure to perform services
agreed upon. In 1190, for example, Alan, son of Walter the
Steward, consented to a lease of Church lands by the Abbot
of Kelso to his men at Innerwick, for thirty-three years.
Whether the Brandanes were only the vassals of the Steward
in his twenty-acre toft around Rothesay Castle, or the more
numerous body of serfs and villeins who were bound to follow
his slogan, I cannot determine. The nature of the Fitz-
Alans’ tenantry of Bute is unknown, for before King Robert’s
time the barons had lost their title-deeds. And when that
king in Parliament commanded them to produce their titles,
says Buchanan, every one drew his sword and cried out, “ We
carry our titles in our right hands.” If that was the kind of
title the Steward had at first, then the servitude of the “sons
of the soil,” and of his military tenants, may have been an

abject one. Otherwise the Brandane may have been a bold

1 ¢Leg. Burg.,’ 15; ‘Reg. Mag.,’ vol. ii. p. 9.
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It is almost certain that these Brandanes joined the
national muster which followed King David into England,
as we find among his other troops at Northallerton the
Lavernani (Campsie men, probably under Nes, a Norman
settler and vassal of the Steward), and the Insulani, or men
of the Isles.

The Brandanes were both marines and common infantry.
One of their gifts to Wallace was a war-ship—a. “ ballingar”
—no doubt secretly made for their hero in some recess of
the Kyles.

If the Brandanes were the husbandmen, or, later, the
vassals of the Church, as has been pointed out (vol. i. p.
153), their first leader may have been the secular lord who
was recognised as possessing the Church lands, and who was
latterly “ The Steward.”

History gives us a few glimpses of them, mostly in times
of war. In peace, they doubtless shared the common pros-
perity of the age, which was not altogether devoid of culture
and civilisation, especially in the twelfth and thirteenth cen-
turies. We see their homes wasted and broken up by Norse
marauders. Their fertile land soon restored prosperity.
Merchant vessels brought them even the fashions from
France, with which the ship-men of Kintyre then traded.!
Their own brawny smiths could as cunningly weave their
webs of mail as the maids could twill the plaids of tartan.
In a fray they had only one need, and that was a worthy
leader. Said Blind Harry, in other words—

“ O for an hour of Wallace wight !”

“Had thai Wallace, off no thing ellis thai roucht [recked] !”

1 Bk. ix. 1. 1249.
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them off; and being sure to find plenty of them in the country
which they invade, they carry none with them. Under the flaps of
his saddle each man carries a broad plate of metal [girdle]; behind
the saddle a little bag of oatmeal. When they have eaten too much
of the sodden flesh, and their stomach appears weak and empty,
they place this plate over the fire, mix their water with oatmeal, and
when the plate is heated, they put a little of the paste [Gael.
brochan] upon it and make a thin cake, like a cracknel or biscuit,
which they eat to warm their stomachs. It is therefore no wonder
that they perform a longer day’s march than other soldiers.”

Such were the hardy carls who stood unflinchingly around
Sir John Stewart at Falkirk in 1298, as Blind Harry so
graphically relates. The meeting of English and Scots there
“was awfull for to se.” After the long spears broke, out
flashed their swords, and soon the “ dredfull wapynnys” were
death’s artists, painting red the iron coats, skull-caps (basnets),
and blazonry of 20,000 dead men. Cumin fled, leaving the
brunt of the battle to the “hardy Stewart,” who was soon
surrounded by his antagonists —among others the Bruce,
according to the Minstrel :—

“The men off But before thair lord thai stud
Defendand him, quhen fell stremyss off blud.”

Sir John had arranged his men in a “schiltrom ” or circular
formation, with the archers, or “ Flowers of the Forest,” from
Selkirk in the centre. But he himself fell from his horse in
their midst, and was instantly surrounded by his men, who
were noted in Southron eyes for their elegant form and dis-
tinguished carriage? They stood unmoved by the showers
of arrows and stones poured in by their antagonists, until

they were totally extinguished by the horsemen. The scene

1 ¢Chron.,’ vol. i. p. 18.
2 Walter of Hemingford in ¢ Wallace Papers,’ pp. 62, 112.
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memorial cross with this inscription: “In memory of the
men of Bute who, under Sir John Stuart, on the 22d July
1298, in the battle near the Fawekirk, fought bravely and
fell gloriously, this cross is reverently raised by John Stuart,
Marquess of Bute. A.D. 1877

King Robert the Bruce, like Wallace, found that Bute was
a safe military centre, both on account of the recuperative
quality of the land and the staunch adherence of the islanders,
In his will he appealed to his successors to retain the isles, and
prevent them falling into the hands of the nobles: “ Inasmuch
asthey could thence have cattle in plenty, and stout warriors,
while in the hands of others they would not readily yield
allegiance to the king, whereas with the slender title of the
Isles the king can hold them to the great advantage of the
realm, and most of all if he should make recompence to others
of a peaceful territory.”! In 1313, according to some, Robert
Bruce took and levelled Rothesay Castle.?

During the early struggles of Bruce the broken bands from
Falkirk found shelter in the isle, and received priestly comfort
from Bishop Sinclair, as well as daring incentive from Camp-
bell of Lochaw, who lurked about the Kyles. When the
young Steward joined Bruce immediately before Bannockburn,
as has been related (p. 69), “a rout of nobill men” from his
various lands accompanied him. They excelled their fame
upon the battle-field that day. Whether they were actually

1 Major’s ‘Hist. of Greater Britain,” bk, i. chap. vi. p. 38 (Scot. Hist. Soc.
edit.)

2 In 1313, Bruce subdues the Isle of Man, and “‘takes from the English by force
the castells of Bute [more probably Buittle], Dumfries, and Dals[w]ynton, all
which he levels to the ground.”—Balfour, ¢ Annals,’ vol. i. p. 93 ; Fordun’s ¢ An-
nals,” cxxix, read Bwtk. Fordun, xii. 18,
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quiet homes, like the trusty weapon of Deuchar in Fife, which
bore the graphic-inscription—

“ At Bannockburn I served the Bruce,
Of whilk the Inglis had na russ [boast].”

The Scottish galleys conveying Edward Bruce’s host to
Ireland to pay off old scores had just sailed, when King
Robert, in 1315, quietly appeared in Bute waters, and taking
with him the Steward and his Brandanes, made for Tarbert,
to chastise the wild West Highlanders. By an ingenious de-
vice like that of Haco—laying down trees and planks to
form a keel-way—they sailed their full-rigged galleys over
the narrow neck of land into the western ocean, and soon
quelled the men of Lorn. This was the first ship-railway.
The Bruce next proceeded to Ireland to assist his brother,
who was accompanied by members of the Steward’s family,
including Sir John Steward, his brother, who fell at Dundalk
on the 14th October 1318, and Sir Alan Steward, his cousin.

The Steward and Douglas were left as joint-wardens of
the realm. The city of Berwick, still in English hands, was
soon invested and taken by the Steward, who had “such
yearning ¥ to be on the bloody Borders with his deadly
archers from the Forest. He called out five hundred of “his
friends and his men,” says Barbour—no doubt the jakmen
and the cross-bowmen of the burghs and of Bute—with others
be‘aring the “arms of ancestry” as well as the tools of death,
to defend the castle of which he was appointed the keeper in
1318. Every kind of engine was prepared, every defensive
device planned, “and great fire purveyed.” In the strong
apparel of battle, the city and its five hundred well-led men
waited the beleaguerment of their foes—led by Edward him-
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self—not long, however. From land and sea, on St Mary’s
Eve, 7th September 1319, the wild carols of chivalry rung
round the walls, and were answered by showers of stones,
fire, and arrows. The Steward rode around, inciting the
defenders incessantly. The blazing galleys gave them light
by night. But nothing “ skunnirrit ” (disheartened) the besieg-
ers in their fierce assaults, and nothing the untiring garrison.
They fell where they were posted, to a man. There ensued
a terrible fight at the Mary Gate, which the foe had fired,
and nearly burst, when the Steward appeared in the hand-to-
hand encounter. But what with “stabing, stoking, and strik-
ing ”—what with the arrows gathered by the women and
children and shot again, the fell foe were driven away, and
a blithe shout rose from the sturdy band. And when the
English army, baffled, retreated, there was “gamyn and

gle
praised for their “manhed and subtilite,” while of the

»

within the walls. The Steward and his men were

Steward his compeers thought—

“ He was worthy ane prins to be.”

By this time the English had seen enough of Douglas and
his furred hat, of Walter and his men of pith (peth), and a
truce was struck from Christmas Day. The Brandanes got
two years to draw their breath in their native air, till the wild
alarms of war rallied them again, and they found themselves
with other islemen on the Braes of Byland chasing their an-
tagonists. Following up this success of the king, the Steward,
again with a gallant five hundred, harassed the English to
the very gates of York, sitting down before them till nightfall,
and challenging the garrison to come and try their mettle.

But the Brandanes were fighting against another author-

VOL. II. G
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ity, which for a time almost threatened the extinction of their
liberty. King Robert and his following had been for years
under the ban of the Pope, on account of their alleged bar-
barity and paganism. English counsels prevailed, and ob-
tained the most terrible anathemas against them. The Bruce
was incorrigible, and maintained the justice of his causc
against all the powers temporal and spiritual. On the 6th
April 1320, the lords and barons, free tenants, and the whole
community, had a representative meeting at Aberbrothock,
and drew up a manifesto, declaring their nationality and
other independent rights, which was sent to the Pope. Its
most striking clause was: “ So long as a hundred remain
alive, we will never in any degree be subject to the dominion
of the English. Since not for glory, riches, or honour we
fight, but for liberty alone, which no good man loses but with
his life.” Among those who in “filial reverence” sent kisses
to the “blessed feet” of the Supreme Pontiff, was Walter,
Steward of Scotland. The Papal Court negotiated a long
truce between the two nations.

During this peaceful lull the Steward died in the spring
of 1326, leaving a son, Robert, the young Steward, ten
years of age. Three years afterwards the Bruce died, while
the young Earl David was in his seventh year.

Sir James Stewart of Rossyth and Durrisdeer, brother of
Walter, became the commander of the Steward’s men, and
led them under Douglas in the raid on England in 1327.
The young Steward was now heir-apparent of the throne.
Baliol and the English soon embroiled Scotland in a fresh
conflict, which came to a decisive issue on Halidon Hill
above Berwick, on the 20th July 1333. The young Steward,
then sixteen years old, led one of the four Scots divisions,
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And bade the Brandanys ask thare mede,
That thai suld haue for thare gude dede.
Thai askyd to be multyre free :

Than that wyth gud will thame gave he.
Than had he wonnyn till his land

Nyne hundyr markis worth off land.” !

The news of victory soon brought the Steward from
Dunoon, and being delighted with the bravery of his followers,
he gave them as a reward perpetual exemption from the
payment of multures. This spirited deed fanned the fire of
patriotic rebellion, till the Steward found a large following
of Westland men round him.

The Bute family of Glass hand down an interesting tradi-
tion, apparently in reference to this very affair, to this effect :

“When King Robert Bruce was scrambling for the kingdom,
and fighting his way in the west, he was opposed by Argyle and
other Highland chiefs. At the time alluded to he had come from
Ayrshire, and had accomplished a landing in the island of Bute.
His followers were few, and fewer still appeared to join his standard
in the island, till Glass of Ascog with sixteen retainers, and another
small laird with a few more retainers, joined him. By their example,
many others turned out and gained a battle—or skirmish it might
perhaps be called—and, in the evening, when Bruce returned to
Rothsay Castle, which he took possession of, he was so pleased
with the conduct of Glass and his neighbours, that he caused his
‘learned clerk’ to make out Free or Crown Charters in their favour
of the lands they held—i.e., he granted them the lands Free for which
they formerly paid Rent or Mail. These Charters are in existence
to this day, bearing date from Rothsay Castle. Glass’s family, by

this Grant and Royal Favour, became highly respectable, the Laird
»2

being now a small Baron.

1 Wyntoun, bk. viii. c. xxix. Il. 4327-4360.
2 Note to Geneal. Tree of the Glassfords, by Wm. Glassford, 1834, in possession
of Mr J. G. Jamieson, Rothesay.
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If the site was artificial, it may be surmised the first fortalice
got its name Rothers-ay from the whole island ; if the site was
an islet, stranded at the mouth of the local stream, it may
have given its name to the island. I prefer the former as-
sumption. [In a previous chapter! I endeavoured to trace
the name to a Norse origin, a surmise now strengthened by
subsequent study of the researches of Professor Thomsen of
Copenhagen, who finds that anciently some parts of Sweden
—Upland and East Gothland—were called Rother, Rothin, a
word he connects with Rozls-menn, Roths-karlar, signifying
rowing-men, rudder-men, vikings.? Out of this people prob-
ably sprang King Rother, the mythical hero of the Icelandic
Saga, “The Romance of King Rother,” which narrates how
“On the Western Sea there dwelt a king whose name was
Rother ; in the town of Bari, there he dwelt with great renown.
Other lords did him service; two-and-seventy kings, men of
both valour and piety, were under him. He was the greatest
king who was ever crowned in Rome.” 3 '

Rothesay was Rother’s-Isle, in any case, whether we accept
the assumption that it was overrun by a colony from Swedish
Rother, or by the rotkers — the row-men — of the Norse
peninsula.

Their central place of meeting in the fortified islet in the
ancient burgh for judicial purposes might also have the alter-
native name of the isle of management (Rothis-ay)].

Rothesay Castle, in its present ruined condition, consists of
an immense edifice, built on an islet, with water ornamentally
disposed around it to give the appearance of the original

Lol i, ipi 14,
2 ¢ Scottish Review,’ vol. xxii. No. xliv. p. 3209.
3 Ibid., No. xliii. p. 37.
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Bute, and there spent the week ending August 12 [1872] examining
the building in company with Mr Thomson [Rothesay]. With
his assistance I measured sundry portions of the buildings, and I
have since received several supplementary drawings from him,
copies of which will be found in this report marked T.

1. The Present Condition of the Building.

From drawings Nos. 4 and 5 it will be seen that Rothesay
Castle consists of an irregular circular space some 135 feet in
diameter, surrounded by a wall 8 feet thick. This wall is con-
structed of a hearting of rough rubble, enclosed by outer and inner
facings of cut sandstone. At the four angles of the compass are
four exterior circular towers, portions of three of which still remain.
But the walls and towers have evidently been added to, from the
original height, for the sandstone facing, which in the lower portion
is red and yellow, after attaining a height of about 20 feet, suddenly
becomes white ; however, on the inside face of this additional work
there is no sandstone—whinstone is substituted for it. Apart from
the entrances to the towers, which are square-headed, there are two
doorways in the wall—viz., the entrance doorway, and the postern.
The arch of the great entrance is three-centred, or rather elliptical,
a form often seen in Norman work. The postern doorway, now
blocked up, has a semicircular head, but has lost its ring of
voussoirs.

In front of the entrance doorway a projection has been added
at some later period ; but in this case the archway is pointed, and
has been pierced for a portcullis. There is also a plain chamfered
impost-string. The whole style of this archway evidently points to
the early half of the thirteenth century, at which period it is prob-
able that the original elliptical archway was considerably narrowed
by building another archway within it.

It should be observed that the nature of the squared sandstone
walling renders it very difficult to detect alterations and repairs
whenever the old stones have been used again: thus the place
where the south-west tower (now destroyed) impinged on the wall
has been repaired with the old stones, and many persons might
pass the place without suspecting that any tower had ever been
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there; and it would require very sharp eyes indeed to detect
where the postern has been blocked up, and yet this doorway
was reopened as late as 1816, when the first excavations were made
by the orders of the late Marquis.

The inside of the area enclosed by the wall was doubtless, as
the excavations have proved, filled by a variety of buildings—
probably having the lower storeys constructed of stone and the
upper of wood. All these have now disappeared with the exception
of the chapel, which presents architectural features which in England
would be attributed to the time of Edward I. The excavations
of 1816 and those made last year by Mr Thomson show that the
rest of the area was full of buildings, though we have little or no
evidence as to their destination. They evidently surrounded an
irregular court in the centre of the area. This area at all periods
must have been excessively crowded, and its inconvenience prob-
ably necessitated the erection of the great barbican, which was
added to the entrance doorway at the beginning of the sixteenth
century.

The dilapidated condition of the structure and the large quantity
of ivy which grows over almost every part present great hindrances
to an exhaustive inspection; but as far as can be ascertained, it
appears to me that the system of defence adopted is that in practice
during the thirteenth century, when keeps were abandoned, and
the defence intrusted to the walls and towers, with the engines placed
behind the curtains. The great object was to prevent the acquisi-
tion of one part of the wall by the besiegers, entailing the loss of
the whole castle. Thus it will be seen each of the four curtain
walls possessed its own flight of steps. The towers also bave
their separate entrances, and had no communication with the top
of the wall, except perhaps a temporary one on the inside face,
which could be removed in time of war. The enemy, therefore,
when he had acquired a tower or a curtain wall, could get no
further.

Traces of the stairs to the N.E. curtain are very visible (see
drawing 5, No. 22), while the steps behind the chapel are nearly
perfect at the present time.

"When it was decided to raise the height of the walls, the arrow-



110 Bute tn the Olden Time.

slits in the lower storey of the towers were blocked up; and it is
possible that the postern may have undergone the same process
at the same time. But the most notable change is to be found
in the curtains on either side of the barbican, where the old
battlements (which, by the way, have a very thirteenth-century
appearance) have been retained and made part of the new wall,
the top of the old wall being converted into a gallery. This is
shown on drawing 12.
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Rothesay Castle, curtain wall (No. 12).

The new work in this part of the building shows evident signs of
haste, the wall being composed of small irregular pieces of whin-
stone, and unlike the walling of the chapel (see drawing 13, fig. 4).
The old waterspouts have doubtless been taken out and used up
above, where we now see them.
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Froissart gives several instances of combats at the barriers, as the
palisades were called.

The eastern wall contains a recess or small room for the porter,
provided with a guard-robe in the window-seat. At the southern
extremity is a passage similar to that leading to the postern gate in
the opposite wall, but which in this instance gives access first to
a flight of steps leading to the first floor; and, second, to a small
side-chamber, which it is just possible may have been used as a
guard-room, more especially as it has one inside and two outside
windows. The part of the building over the guard-room evidently
continued all thé way up, as may be seen by a small portion of
ribbed vaulting yet remaining on the second storey attached to the
curtain wall. It is not improbable that it may have contained
a staircase communicating between the first and second floors.
The vaulting at the top is generally pointed out as part of the
roomi where Robert II. (?) died, but it is evidently of the same date
as the rest of the barbican. The passage between the walls was
defended at either end by doorways ; that to the south has already
been described, and, with the exception of the small arch in front,
belongs to the earlier period of the castle.

The entrance at the north is very narrow, measuring 7 feet 6 by
5 feet wide. It was defended by two doors, one opening inwards
and the other outwards; over the latter the drawbridge could be
drawn, and in the corners of the arch are the holes for the chains.
It will be noted how very careful the designer of the barbican was
in the construction of the doorways; he made them small and
multiplied them. In fact, the entrance passage could be equally
well defended against enemies from the castle court from those
without.

The passage itself is vaulted, and in its floor is a stone which,
lifted up, gives access to a vaulted dungeon, lighted by a very small
window, with a guard-robe in the seat. This is generally said to
have been the prison of Sir Patrick Lindsay, but I am afraid it is
of a later date than that event. Certainly it answers to James IV.’s
description of the dungeon into which he condemned Sir Patrick—
viz., a place where he should not see his feet for a year ; but doubt-
less there were other dungeons in the castle,—for instance, the little
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apartment near the south-east tower, which is tolerably dark, and
which also possesses a guard-robe. [Size of dungeon, 17 feet 6 by
11 feet 6 by 8 feet.—H.]

The first floor of the barbican is far from being in the same state
of preservation as the ground-floor. The east wall is entirely de-
stroyed, and we also meet with traces of modern alterations, made
when this was doubtless the most habitable portion of the castle.
It is very doubtful whether the space was divided into two or three
rooms. In the first place, we must allow one division at the southern
end for the working of the portcullis; northward of this, in the west-
ern wall, seems the jamb of a fireplace, and close to it must have
been the entrance to the passage leading to the great guard-robe, -
afterwards made into a room ; then we come to a large chimney-piece
and a portion of a transverse wall. Unfortunately this piece of wall
ends opposite the chimney-piece, with a rebated jamb as if for a
door ; now there could 7o have been an opposite jamb, for the
chimney-piece is in the way, which is apt to make us view this
transverse wall with some suspicion. After the chimney-piece we
come upon a window, and then we meet the northern wall. As to
the eastern wall, I strongly suspect it was double for some portion
on account of the staircase; at all events, it is very thin at its north-
ern end. Access to the first floor was obtained from the inside area
of the castle by means of a flight of stairs which are still in use,
although in an exceedingly bad condition. They were anciently
carried on an arch, which, having given way, is now blocked up with
pieces of rough stone. On the top of these stairs was a doorway,
now utterly destroyed, the only part remaining being the hole for
the bar. Right and left of the doorway are the covered passages
formed on the top of the oldest wall, which conducted to open
landings, and by them to steps leading down to the castle court.
It is by no means improbable but that these landings also had
communications with the first floor of towers.

The second floor presents us with sundry windows, and a fireplace
at the northern end. The holes for the joists are visible from the
northern end to about the entrance to the guard-robe passage ;
beyond this point southward the wall both of the first and second
floor has a very disturbed appearance, which causes me to suspect
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that the division wall was somewhere at this place. The whole
edifice was probably surmounted by a high-pitched roof, which would
afford space for bedrooms. Part of the gable-wall can be traced at
the northern end, and the arrangement of parapet is shown in
drawing 14, fig. 3.

The designer of the barbican did not forget the sanitary part of
his work ; on the contrary, he constructed very large and commodious
guard-robes. In fact, the great projection on the eastern side is
dedicated solely to this purpose. From the section, drawing o, it
will be seen that the lower guard-robe has been enlarged at a sub-
sequent period in order to convert it into a room. That on the
upper floor has undergone the same process, as we see by the
remains of a fireplace.

The third storey equally possesses a fireplace, besides sundry holes
for musketry. The gable is stepped in the usual Scotch style, and
affords us a hint as to the probable shape of the gable of the main
building. The only other remains of the second floor is the small
piece of vaulting in the S.E. angle, and which has been noticed
before. One thing is to be observed about the architecture of this
barbican—rviz., that with the exception of the above groining there
is no trace of Gothic work in it; all the windows are square, and
the arches, where they occur, are round and segmental.

The coat of arms over the entrance door is unfortunately defaced
by the smoke of a smithy forge immediately unders The only thing
we can positively make out is the fact that two unicorns support the
shield : this would give us a range from James IV. to James VL.
The crest is utterly defaced. (See p. zg0.)

2. The History of the Castle as far as it relates to the Architecture.

Before entering on this part of the subject, it may be as well to
say a few words about the various accounts published up to the
present time.

There are four published accounts of the castle :—

1. An Account of Rothesay Castle. Third edit., Glasg., 1831.
No author’s name appears, but it is known that it is the work of
John Mackinlay, a collector of Customs.

2. The History of the Isle of Bute. By J. E. Reid. 1864.
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3. A Guide to Rothesay Castle, Descriptive and Historical. By
John Thoms. Rothesay, 187o0.

4. Tourist’s Guide to Rothesay and the Island of Bute. By
John Wilson. Fourth edit., 1871.

As I have before observed, all these writers more or less copy one
another, and it is extremely rare that any original or contemporary
authority is quoted. Mr Bullen [of the British Museum] has done
his best in his account to remedy this state of things, but I am still
painfully aware that very much more remains to be done. To do
such a work perfectly would demand the labour of an antiquary of
the old school, who would make it the labour of his life, and to
whom time would be no consideration. I now propose to consider
the salient points in Mr Bullen’s account, as far as they relate to the
architecture of the castle.

It is generally supposed that the castle was built either by Magnus
Barefoot to secure his conquests or by the Scotch to defend the
place against the Norwegians. There is positively no evidence at
all on the subject,—neither Rothesay nor Bute being mentioned in
the accounts of the expedition. Mackinlay’s theory is very probably
correct—viz., that it is built on the lines of some ancient British
fort. These were generally round, and thus we may account for the
irregular setting out of the circle. The same author tells us that
the word Rothesay is composed of the Gaelic #07%, a circle, and sazd,
a seat or place of residence. He adds that Macbeth’s castle at
Dunsinane Hill only presents the remains of dry-stone walls.! The
object of the fortification at Rothesay was evidently to protect the
harbour, the shore of which was, until even the middle of the last
century, very much nearer the castle than at the present day (see
drawing, which gives a copy of a portion of a survey of the year
1759, where the shore is shown as being 260 feet from the castle
doorway). The first authentic fact concerning the castle is the siege
by the Norwegians, 1228, as described in the ¢ Anecdotes of Olave
the Black,” published and translated by the Rev. P. Johnstone.
Here we find that the Norwegians ‘ went to Bute, and the Scots lay
there in a castle.” ¢ They set down before the fortress and gave a

1 M. quotes as his authority Williams’s ¢ Account of Vitrified Forts,’ &c.
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hard assault ”’—7z.e., they tried to take it by escalade—but *the
Scotch fought well, and threw down upon them burning pitch and
lead.” The Norwegians “ prepared over themselves a covering of
boards, and then hewed down the walls, for the stone was soft, and
the ramparts fell with them, and they cut it up from the foundation.”
This could not have been difficult with walls of soft sandstone, more
especially if uncemented. And here the question arises (and one
very difficult to answer)—viz.,, Are the present walls the same as
those attacked by the Norwegians? At my request Mr Thomson
has made a very careful examination of them, and the following is
his report :—

T have this morning [August 7, 1872] made a particular examin-
ation of the hearting or core of the original or lowest wall of red
and yellow sandstone-facing in Rothesay Castle. I was able to do
so at several points without being under the necessity of taking down
any part of it, and it appears to be much the same all round. The
best section of the wall is to be seen at the entrance to the ‘A’ or
pigeon tower from the courtyard. Here it is exposed fully to view,
with the sandstone on each side and the hearting made up of (1)
roundish stones of greyish rock water-worn, such as might be
gathered from the sea-shore, various sizes; (2) sharp irregular
blocks of whinstone; (3) pieces of white quartz rock ; (4) pieces
of sandstone similar in colour to the facing, which probably not
being large enough for outside work were thrown into the hearting ;
(5) a few pieces of limestone rock ; (6) pieces of slaty rock, not so
compact or solid as (1). All these are bound firmly together and
set in lime, a peculiarity of which is the coarseness of the gravel
which had been mixed with the lime. It would take a 3/-inch
riddle to let much of it through. The various kinds of stones are
all local, and could be readily found in Bute at the present day.”

In a subsequent communication (August 21, 1872) Mr Thomson
says : “I have been so fully occupied that I had no time to make
a careful re-examination of the castle walls, but to-day I have done
so again. At several places, both inside and out, where the square
facings have been removed and exposed the interior of the wall—I
mean the curtain wall—between the towers and the lower part
thereof, the hearting appears to be the same as I described in my



124 Bute in the Olden Trinme.

last letter. It certainly is not sandstone throughout, but a mixture
of a variety of stones, such as could be gathered off the beach.
Many of them are round and water-worn, and the mortar does not
adhere to these so well as to rough sandstone or squared rough
blocks, and it would not surprise me to read that the Norwegians
in their attack upon the castle found it to be of sof¢ stone. What
sandstone there is in the wall is certainly very soft. Their first im-
pression in the attack upon the walls would be that it consisted of
soft stones, and I do not think they would have much difficulty
with heavy tools, however rude they may have been, in getting
through the wall; the smoothness of many of the stones would
render the task less difficult.”

From this examination it would appear to be a doubtful point
whether the present walls are those besieged by the Norwegians.
All we can with any certainty attribute to that time is the elliptical-
headed entrance gateway, and perhaps the postern gateway. The
pointed-arched addition to the entrance gateway (see drawing 8)
might also be contemporaneous with the Norwegian capture of the
fortress.

It will be observed that the castle itself was not finally won until
three days after the breach had been effected : this would point to
the interior being crowded with houses, each of which could be
burned and defended. I must confess that the present castle gives
me very much the idea of an Edwardian castle erected on the lines
of an older building, the towers being additions.

In the ¢ Norwegian Account of Haco’s Expedition,’ 1263, published
and translated by Rev. J. Johnson, we read that Haco and Andrew
Pott go before him south to Bute with some small vessels to join
those he had already sent thither. News was soon received that
they had won a fortress, the garrison of which had capitulated and
accepted terms of the Norwegians. “The Norwegians, who had
been in Bute, where they burnt many houses and several towns.”

Of course it is a question whether, as in the former instance, they
thought fit to keep the fortress. It is just probable that their
object was the plunder, and that they would not attempt to occupy
a place so far distant from Norway. It is also by no means certain
that the castle in question was the one in Rothesay.
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A treaty was made (after the battle of Largs), 1266, by which all
the islands except the Orkneys and Shetland belonged to Scotland.

The name of Rothesay or Bute does not occur among the castles
given up to Edward I. on various occasions ; but that it was in his
possession we may be certain, for we learn from the ‘ Rotuli Scotize’
that he enjoined Alexander, Earl of Menteith, to take possession of
the lands of Alexander of Argyle, and John his son. At the same
time he ordered all the men of James the Steward of Scotland in
Bute, Cowell, and Roresy to aid the said earl with their galleys and
other naval forces in maintaining his guardianship of the castle and
fortresses here named.

Thinking that some information may be obtained from the Record
Office in London, I applied to my friend Mr Joseph Burt, who very
kindly gave me the results of his investigations, in the following
words :—

“Dec. 21, 1871.—1 have just been able to finish looking
through what I promised about Bute and Rothesay. I have now
gone through all the Record publications that could have any
bearing on the subject, and I have carefully examined a mass of
MSS. relating to the Scotch wars of Edward I. and II. In none
of them do I find any entry whatever of either Bute or Rothesay, so
that the notice of the castle being in the hands of the English king
when the strong places of the country were given up to him would
appear to rest upon the authority of the chronicles alone. I have no
means of testing that authority. Perhaps if Bullen knows what
ought to be done, he might be able to do it; but I fear you must
go to Edinburgh to get the matter worked out.

“So great is the amount of material here relating to the Scotch
wars of Edward I. that I do not think the place could have figured
as it is said to have done in these events without the name occurring
here. There are lots of references to the provisioning, the arming,
and the repair of (perhaps more than) a dozen castles in Scotland,
and of the pay of armed troops there or going there, but no entry
of the place you are now interested in.”

The next notice we have is from Fordun under the year 1312,
and as Fordun wrote at the end of the century, he must have got
his information from some early author. “In the same year the
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Castles of Bute, of Dumfries, and of Dalwyntoone, with many other
fortresses, were taken by force and levelled to the ground.” Now,
we often hear of castles being levelled to the ground, but which
on examination present very large portions of the original structure.
What we are probably to understand in the present instance is that
the Scottish king was not satisfied simply with the destruction
of the battlements, but that he caused sundry breaches to be made
in the walls, so as to render the castle untenable: that he did not
level the castle to the ground, the elliptical and pointed arches at
the entrance gateway sufficiently testify.

We next read that the keys of Rothesay Castle were presented
to Edward Baliol at Renfrew, 1334. The young Stuart escaped
to Dumbarton, and Sir Alan de Lyle was made Sheriff of Bute,
&c. The nearest authority for this is Wyntoun, who flourished
circa 1400.

The printed histories say that Baliol fortified the castle, but Mr
Bullen has not been able to ascertain any authority for this state-
ment. Here we have one fact quite in opposition to the (even
partial) destruction of the castle—viz., that its keys were presented
to Baliol. We can only suppose the castle to have been rebuilt,
with the exception of the entrance doorways, some time between its
partial demolition by the Bruce and its surrender to Edward Baliol.
In this case the old foundations would be preserved,—the towers
probably being additions,—the old materials—viz., the red and
yellow sandstone—being used for the facing of the new walls; but
this, of course, always supposing the old walls were entirely con-
structed of sandstone. Another argument in favour of this rebuild-
ing is derived from the arrangement of the towers, which divide the
circumference of the walls into a number of small garrisons, all
without communication with one another in time of war. This was
a very favourite arrangement during the time in question (r3rz-
1334) and anterior. The architecture of the chapel also agrees
with the beginning of the fourteenth century, considering the art
was somewhat later in Scotland than in England. The walled-up
battlements in curtain have also a general likeness and proportion
to those we find in the Welsh castles built by Edward.

If Baliol did fortify the castle, he probably heightened the curtains
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on either side of the entrance. Here the old battlements have been
built up so as to form a passage, and the whole wall very consider-
ably raised. It will be observed that this part of the building is
done with very rough shaley whinstone, not unlike the walls of the
chapel, and betraying great carelessness and roughness.

When the Stuart recovered the castle, he probably heightened
the rest of the walls and towers, but he proceeded in a regular
manner. The battlements were taken down, not built up, and
the new work made of worked whinstone and faced with white
sandstone, thus distinguishing it from the red and white material
of the whole wall below (see drawing 12).

It should be observed that there are no traces of any keep, this
feature having gone out of fashion ; on the contrary, there is every
reason to believe that the extensive area was covered with a quantity
of tenements, which were probably of two or more storeys, for the
space was small, and not only the garrison and governor but the
king -and his suite had to be accommodated. Thus there are
several notices of the residence of Robert II. and Robert III. at
Rothesay. In fact, the latter is said to have died there, and part
of a chamber, now destroyed, is pointed out by the guides as con-
nected with that event; but unfortunately the destroyed chamber
clearly belonged to the additions made to the castle at the beginning
of the sixteenth century. The fact of Robert’s death at Bute rests
on the authority of Bower, Fordun’s Continuator, but Wyntoun says
the occurrence took place at Dundonald. In 147%5, John, Earl of
Ross, was accused among other things of seizing the castle of
Rothesay.

Some time at the beginning of the next century the barbican was
added to the entrance gateway. Over its entrance we find a coat
of arms ; this is much defaced from the smoke of a blacksmith’s
forge, but sufficient remains to show the arms of Scotland supported
by two unicorns. Unfortunately the crest, supported on a helmet,
which is placed above the crown, is too much obliterated to be
made out; the whole achievement is surrounded by a border of
thistles. The first sovereign of Scotland who employed two unicorns
as supporters was James IV., whose arms with these additions are
to be found on the westermost buttress of Melrose Abbey. James
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IV. ascended the throne in 1488 and was killed at Flodden in
1513. From an English point of view the architecture of this
barbican has somewhat a later aspect than these dates, and we
must remember that his successors equally used the twin unicorns
as supporters. On the other hand, popular tradition connects the
dungeon with the place of imprisonment of Sir Patrick Lindsay,
who, having provoked the anger of the king, was told that “he
schould sitt quhair he should not sie his feet for ane yeir, and im-
mediately caused tak him to the Rosa (Rosay ?) of Bute and pat him
in prisone.” This took place in 1489, in the second year of the
king’s reign, so that if the prison in question is really that in which
Sir Patrick Lindsay was confined, the building must have been
begun at the very commencement of the reign.

It will be observed that in this part of the building there is
no attempt at tracing or moulding. All the windows are small and
square, and the entrance arch is round, as also is the vaulting on
the ground-floor.

In 1536 James V., after the failure of his attempted journey to
France, remained some time in the castle. In 1540 he again
visited Rothesay, and with a view of making a royal residence
he gave money to Sir J. Hamilton to make repairs. Lindsay of
Pitscottie gives full particulars of this event. It appears Hamilton
was a courtier, not an architect, and his embezzlement of the funds
does not appear to have been one of the charges at his trial.
According to Pitscottie, the king *““had directed him in 1541 [go
to] Rose to repair his castle thair, that he might remain thair at
his pleasure the space of ane year together with his queine and
court, and to this effect gave the said Sir James thrie thousand
crownes to fie maissons to complete his work in the Rose of Bute.”

When we connect these facts with the two visits of James V.
to the castle in 1536 and 1540, in which latter year he had been
setting in order public affairs in those parts, it is extremely probable
that we may consider him to be the builder of the barbican, and
not James IV.1  Of course this disposes of the legend of the prison

1 From the local accounts of Ninian Stewart in the ¢ Exchequer Rolls,” we now
learn the exact date and expense of building of the great tower or dungeon (7.e.,
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of Sir Patrick Lindsay; but, as I have before observed, there were
probably many other prisons contained within the area of the old
castle. It is probable that James gave orders to Sir J. Hamilton
to see after the addition, that the latter was accused of embezzling
the money, and that he either disproved the accusation or returned
the amount, which would account for the absence of this charge in
his act of accusation.

The Earl of Lennox and his English auxiliaries obtained posses-
sion of the castle in 1544 ; an English garrison was left; but it is
not known how and when it was given up.

Mackinlay states, upon the authority of the Blain papers, that
under Cromwell the castle in 1650 was garrisoned by a detachment
of his troops “under the command of Ralph Frewin, and that when
they left Rothesay they razed part of the castle.” The destruction
of the tower is generally attributed to that event. Upon the restor-
ation of the castle to its legitimate owners the breach was made
good with the old materials, and, as I have before observed, so
well does the old masonry lend itself to the purpose, that it is
difficult to discover where the breach begins and where it ends.
The castle appears to have been inhabited until 1685, when the
Duke of Argyle plundered the town and demolished the doors and
windows of the castle, which was soon after burnt by his brother.
Other accounts, however, say the earl burnt it himself.

The Marquis of Bute, during a very hard winter, 1816, employed
seventy men to excavate the area, which had been filled up by
rubbish. Mackinlay gives an account of the affair.

The vaults over the entrance passage, which had partly fallen in,
and the pointed arch of the ancient doorway, were repaired. (See
the 1831 edition of Mackinlay.)

In August 1871 part of the ivy, which had greatly overgrown the
building, was cut away for the purposes of the present report, and a

donjon) of Rothesay Castle, which had been ordered by King James IV., and
probably delayed in execution by his death, The account extends from 7th
August 1518 to 6th November 1520 : “Et eidem pro constructione magni turris
dicti le dungeon in caustro de Rothissay de mandato domini regis quondam Jacobi
quarti cujus anima propicietur Deus extendente . . . 4191, 7 sh.”—‘Rot.
Scacc.,’ vol. xiv. p. 362.—J. K. H.
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The office, too, went with the fortunes of war, so that by
the distribution of forfeited lands favourite soldiers, like the
Fitz Alans and Bruces, ousted the old proprietors and their
acknowledged leaders.

Other lands reserved by the Crown were occupied by
farmers, and their kinsmen the cottars, each on his own
steading from generation to generation, without any title
or charter, so long as they paid their “maills” or rents,
gave the military service required of them, and lived in amity
with their chief—if they had one. The Crown took the
place of the early chief, and the husbandmen were simply
the descendants of the original population, working on the
patch that gave them birth and bread. They thus acquired
the name of “Kyndlie Tenants”—z.e., tenants of the same
blood or kind, and natural to the soil. The family were
liferenters in perpetuity. Their family differences they
usually settled among themselves, and the thirsty sword
prevented over-population and over-crowding.

Of the original land belonging to the tribe the last remnant
may now exist in the Burgh Lands or Common Good, now
attenuated to 442 acres, although we have a trace of it, under
a Norse name, in Meadowcap—the caup or common lands of
the meadow — which was in close proximity to the old
Kirktoun round the parish church, and also in the lands
scheduled in the maill-book of the burgh under the names
“Clan Patrick” and “Clan Neil,” also the “Common of
Ardnahoe,” and the “Common Lands” of the burgh.

Under the feudal system lands were held under four kinds
of tenure off the Crown—namely, holdings in Ward, Blanch,
Feu, and Burgage, and these are illustrated by our local
history.
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The oldest charter extant granting lands (with feu-duties)
in Bute is that given by King Robert III., on 11th November
1400, to Sheriff John Stewart, establishing him in the lands
of Ardumlese (Armoleish) and Grenane in “our isle of Bute,”
and Coregelle in “our isle of Arane” for the rendering of
military service only—*“servitia debita et consueta.”?l

From this centre the Bute family have radiated into
territorial power, having been barons for wellnigh 500 years.

A second form of holding was Blanch, or a mere acknow-
ledgment of superiority—such as a rose, peppercorn, pair of
spurs—whereby the vassal paid a merely nominal rent. The
Leiches held Kildavannan by this tenure, which, on 5th
June 1429, was renewed to John Leich, son of the late
Gilzequhome, who had yearly to pay at “the parish Church
of Bute” a reddendo of two pennies or of a pair of gloves.

A third form was Feu-holding, whereby the tenant paid
his superior money, labour, or the fruits of labour. This is
also well illustrated in Bute, where we have the various
rents accounted for as paid to the Crown bailie by the
tenants in Bute in 1440, 1449, and 1450. The farmers of
Bute were simply squatters, till, in 1506, they became feuars.

I'rom the “Exchequer Accounts’ we learn that “from 1445
to 1450 the whole amount of ferme [rent] paid to the Crown
by its tenants in Bute, as stated by the chamberlain, Nigel,
the son of James [Niel Jamieson], was yearly £141, 18s. 6d.,
for every 5s. of which sum every 5 marklands, except the
burgh of Rothesay, paid yearly one mart [a fat ox killed at
Martinmas]. For the same period the grassum bear of the

Crown-lands was yearly 11 chalders, 2 bolls, at £4 per chal-

1 Marquess of Bute’s Charters.
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to their land-extent, and every able-bodied husbandman had
to provide the arms appointed for his station in life.

On the 15th February 1489, in the reign of James IV, an
Act “Anent the free tennentes, that haldis of the Duke of
Rothesay and Steward of Scotland,” was passed, ordaining
them, their “suites and presentes, as effeiris,” to appear and
answer in the Parliament and law courts, until an heir to the
Crown be born to answer for them. In the same Parliament,
a woeful complaint was made that these “puir tennents,
maillers, and inhabitants of the king’s proper lands” were
greatly hurt and oppressed by lords and gentlemen, and
compelled to do “service, avarage [ploughing], cariage, scheir-
ing, leading, labouring, ryding, and travelling.” The Parlia-
ment made this tyranny a punishable offence. This happened
on the birth of a prince, James, in 1506. But their chief only
survived a year,A during which the king granted them and
their heirs a feu-charter at Linlithgow, on the 16th August
1506. It is to this effect :—

GraNT BY KiNGg JaMES IV. To THE STEWARD’S VASSALS IN
Bute, dated at Linlithgow, 16th August 1506.

James, by the grace of God King of Scots, to all propertied
men of his whole land, cleric and laic, Greeting,—Know ye that
because we finding that those holding and inhabiting our lands of
Bute have been infeft in them in the way of feufarm, from of old,
by, our progenitors, we therefore, with advice of the Lords of our
Council, have given, conceded, and given up to feu-farm heredi-
tarily to those holding our lands of the Isle of Bute aforesaid, and
to their heirs-male, the said lands particularly, as is specified below :

Then follow the names of tenants and lands, printed at pp.
137, 138, and the usual conditions ; among which were, freedom

from “multures except suckin to the mill of Rothesay,” pay-
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The following is a translation of the charter by Robert
II1.,, given under the Great Seal—a reduced fac-simile of
which is here given—appointing John, Steward of Bute, to
the officc of sheriff in 1400 :—

‘““ Robert, by the grace of God King of Scots, to all the propertied
men, of his own land, cleric and laic, Greeting,—Know ye that we
have given, conceded, and, by this present charter, confirmed to our
dear brother John, Steward of Bute, the office of Sheriff of the Isles
of Bute and of Arran with pertinents, with which office indeed by
the gift of the most excellent prince and lord, lord Robert, by the
grace of God, King of Scots, our illustrious father, thus far is the
proviso, that it be held and possessed by our said brother and his
heirs-male legitimately procreated or to be procreated of his body—
all, by chance failing, reverting to us and to our heirs—of us and
our heirs in feu and heirship, for ever, with rights, feus, and customs,
and with their own just pertinents whatsoever belonging to, or in
future justly effeiring to belong to the said office, freely, quietly, and
in peace. In witness whereof we have ordered our seal to be
appended to our present charter,—witnesses being the venerable
fathers in Christ, Walter, Bishop of St Andrews, Gilbert, Bishop of
Aberdeen, our Chancellor; our dearest first-born, David, Duke of
Rothesay, Earl of Carrick and Athole, and Steward of Scotland ;
Robert, Duke of Albany, Earl of Fife and of Meneteth, brother ;
Archibald, Earl of Douglas, Lord of Galloway, our dear son;
James of Douglas, Lord of Dalkeith, Thomas of Erskine, our dear
cousins and officers. At Irvine, the eleventh day of the month of
November, in the year of grace one thousand four hundred, and of
the eleventh of our reign.”

If John was a son of Elizabeth More, who died between
1347 and 1355, he was a centenarian, or wellnigh one, at his
decease. But probably he would not have been designated
a natural, if he was a germane, brother of the king. Yet it is
possible. On the other hand, if John was a son of Euphemia
Ross, the second wife of the king, and born even about 1360,
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This charter was granted at Perth on the 15th January 1383.
It, of course, might refer to John, the first-born son of the
king; but he is usually designated in full, with all his
titles.

In 1502, we find that Ninian Stewart, Sheriff of Bute, was
able to dispone a property, Ballockshchechan (Ballechin?), in
the barony of Abernethy, in the county of Perth, to John
Stewart of Ardgowan.! Are Ballachys and Ballochshchechan
to be considered identical with each other, and with the
subject of the charter referred to in Robertson’s ¢ Index’?—
see Appendix XVI. If they are, then Ninian, Sheriff of
Bute, may have possessed these lands on account of his
descent from John, the son of “dear More”—and therefore
a full brother of the king. If not, we are no nearer the
discovery of the mother of John, the founder of the House
of Bute.

The charter of James IV.—here presented in reduced fac-
simile (p. 153)—appointing Ninian Stewart, then Sheriff of
Bute, to the keepership of Rothesay Castle, and his heirs-
male to the same office hereditarily, provides for his salary of
forty marks a-year, together with the regular dues customarily
given to such officers. It was given under the Great Seal at
the New Castle of Kintyre (Ze., Tarbert) on the 5th August
1498. These customary dues are specified in actions subse-
quently raised by the captains of the castle against debtors,
and are also more fully detailed in the Investiture of Sir
George Mackenzie (pp. 149-151).

In 1579, Sheriff John Stewart sued Ninian Bannatyne of
Kames for “2 wedders, 5 creills of peat, and 35 sleds of

1 “Reg. Mag. Sig.,” vol. ii. p. 573.
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On 8th September 1549, a charter was given under the
Great Seal in favour of James Stewart and his heirs-male, of
the office of Chamberlain of his Majesty’s property in Bute,
mill, and forest thereof, paying for each boll of bear yearlie
eight shillings and four pennies, for each boll of meal four
shillings, and for each mart twenty-four shillings, with three
merks yearly of augmentation.

On 18th January 1590, a charter of novodamus was granted
to Sheriff John Stewart, confirming the offices and ward-lands,
erecting Ardmaleish into a barony, and granting the patron-
age of Rothesay Church.

Sir James Stewart was on 27th April 1659 invested in the
following lands and privileges : 1—

Ardmaleish* (with slate craig), 3-merkland ; Kneslagvouraty,
3-merkland ; Drumachloy* ; Dunalunt* ; Ballicaul,* 2-merk-
land; Auchintirrie* ; Greenan,* 3-merkland, and mill; Coag-
ach,* 2-merkland ; Mickle Barrone* g5-merkland ; Ballilone,*
16s. 8d.; Auchamore,* 16s. 8d.; Glenchromag,* 16s. 8d.; Bar-
mor,* 3-merkland ; 2 Kelspokes,* 745-merkland ; Mill of Kil-
chattan*; Kerrycroy, 5-merkland ; Mid Ascog,* 3-merkland ;
Kerrycrusach,* 3-merkland ; Patronage of Kirks of Rothesay,
Mill of Rothesay, and multures ; Kneslagloan* 3-merkland ;
Ardnahoe* 3-merkland; Stravanan* 3-merkland; Kerry-
menoch*; Inchmernock (with slate craig) ; Fifty-shilling-land
of Garrachty; Corriegills* in Arran; 3 Kirktowns; Pen-
machry, 2-merkland ; Breckoch, with mill and multures, in
Cumbrae ; and lands of Fuird with mill, in Edinburgh, to be
holden blench of Sir James himself. The Sheriffship and the
keepership of the castle were also included.

1 The values attached are those found in the charter granted to Sir George
Mackenzie in 1681.
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Birgidale Knock, Barnauld, 15-merkland of Sheriff, Lubas—
Little and Meikle—Largizean, Kneslag -vourathy and -mory,
Quien, Row, Scalpsay (with other lands in Cowal).

There were also the patronage of Kingarth, Rothesay, and
Inverchaolain churches.

“The office of the Hereditary Keeper of His Majesty’s Castle
of Rothesay is granted with houses, biggings, yeards, office houses,
parts, pendicles, and pertinents thereof whatsomever, and particularly
the houses and yeards opposite to the said Castle pertaining thereto
and then possest by Ninian Allan, officer, and John Kerr, sometime
bailie of Rothesay, and other houses and yards likeways belonging
thereto over against the houses on the south side or the High Street
of Rothesay, with all services and casualties payable to the Hereditary
Keepers of the said Castle, and which were paid to Sir James and Sir
Dugald Stuarts, then deceast, for their service as heretable keepers
thereof ; out of the feu-lands, called Dumbarton Lands, within the
Island of Bute, and particularly out of the lands of Kerrycroy two
kain wedders, two creel of peats, two cartsfull of straw, six reek hens
with two nights’ meat for two horses and one man yearlie ; out of
the lands of Kerrylamont 1 kain wedder, and 2z reek hens and
siklike the casualties of wedders, peats, straw, reek hens, and nights’
meat for horses, and their keepers, with service to the Castle for
necessaries, and when required out of all and haill the feu-lands
possest by the tenants within the Island of Bute, called Dumbarton
Lands, whereof the possessors of the said feu-lands and liferents had
been in use of payment conform to their particular proportions and
rental thereof past memory of man, and also a creel of peats and a
hen yearlie out of every reek house within the Burgh of Rothesay,
also.an annual rent of three score merks payable out of the feu-
duties of the Mill of Rothesay.”

The following charter shows how very near the serene
village of Kerrycroy came to being transformed from “The
Ferry,” as it is sometimes, as of old, called, into a large
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in 1842 ; Provost of Rothesay, 1814-15, 1829-1837. In 1818
he married—
i. Maria, daughter of the Earl of Guildford, who died in
1841, but by her had no issue.
ii. In January 1847, Sophia, daughter of the first Marquess
of Hastings, by whom he had one son—
John Patrick Crichton-Stuart.
The Marquess died, 18th March 1848, and the Marchioness,
28th December 1859.

XIV. Joun (VIL.) Patrick Crichton-Stuart, third Marquess,
was born 12th September 1847. He married the Hon. Gwen-
dolen Mary-Anne, eldest daughter of Edward-George, first
Lord Howard of Glossop, a descendant of the Arundel family,
being younger son of the thirteenth Duke of Norfolk. Their
children are on both sides directly descended from the Fitz
Alans, Banquo, and the early kings of Alban, Dalriada, and
Ireland.

1. Margaret, born 24th December 1875.

2. John (called Earl of Dumfries), born zoth June 1881.

3. Ninian Edward, born 15th May 1883.

4. Colum Edmund, born 3d April 1886.

One of the officers of the Crown in Bute was the Crownare
or Coroner, whose duties it is not easy to particularise. The
office, though distinct from that of a sheriff, was not infre-
quently united with it, and held hereditarily in some families.
It seems to have been within the scope of his duty to watch
over all the interests of the Crown within his bounds, assisting
at the courts of justice, apprehending and protecting criminals
or accused, citing suspects and witnesses, investigating suspi-
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cious cases, poinding forfeited goods and lands, acting as
coastguardsman in seizing castaway vessels, collecting the
Crown rents and dues, and otherwise representing the Crown
as a bailie or factor with the powers of a constable. His fees
for each person convicted, a quey or thirty pennies ; for each
accused who was discharged, nothing. If a man was sen-
tenced to death, the Crowner’s fee consisted of “all the
dantoned and tamed horse not shod, al the scheipe within
twentie, al the goats and swyne within ten, al the grains and
corns lyand in byngs or in broken mawes, all the utensils or
domicil of the house within the cruke hingand upon the
fire”! In Bute the Crowner was annually entitled to a cow
out of the feu-duties of Bute, and a firlot of corn and a lamb
from every portioner of a ploughgate of the feu-lands, which
numbered sixty-one. The office in the sheriffdom of Bute
was held by Nigel or Neill of Kilmorie and his descendants,
the Jamiesouns of the same place. The family were probably
sprung from the Dalriadic invaders. Ferchard of Bute, son
of Nigel of Bute, and Duncan his brother, about the ¢lose of
the thirteenth century, appear attesting charters by Angus,
son of Dovenald, to Paisley monastery.? From 1436 to 1458
Niel Jamieson (Nigellus Jacobi) is the Chamberlain (camzer-
arius) of Bute, and hands in regularly his accounts of the
rents paid by the Crown tenants in the isle,. When the king
was in residence in Rothesay, 1458, Niel made such a poor
mouth about the bad weather for the past twenty-two years
and the loss of his fees from Arran, which had been scoured
by raiders in 1444, that the compassionate monarch allowed

1 ¢The Crownare in Scotland,” in ¢ Scotsman,’ 18th September 1893.
2 ¢Reg. Pass.,’ pp. 127, 128.
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from each persone who arc worth one, two, three, four, five
or six horses, plewed, tilled, laboured, or manured [out of]
any of the few-lands within the Isle of Bute.”! It was found
that the said Robert “had good and undoubted right to
ane lamb and firlot, good and sufficient oats to be paid
out of the haill few-lands of Bute.” This decision of the
Privy Council (11th November) was afterwards (1703) con-
sidered by the Duke of Argyle as an interference with his
privileges as Justiciary General of the Isles.

MacNiell's Tombstone.

Ultimately, on 13th December 1698, John Stewart sold
his rights to the Sheriff, who thus by purchase became the
hereditary Coroner of Bute.

1 Marquess of Bute’s Charters,
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The MacNiells were buried in Rothesay churchyard, where
a monument bearing their coat of arms still remains in
perfect preservation.

The following inscription is visible on the back of the
stone: “This is the Buryial place of thee M‘Nilles [super-
inscribed Nealls] of Kilmorie.”

Their residence, formerly called “The Crowner’s Castle,”

is now a mere fragment of a tower, with nothing more

The Crowner's Castle at Meikle Kilmorie.

than a round shot-hole to indicate that on this mound
stood the keep of the terror to evil-doers in Bute.

Ascog formerly belonged to the Glasses (see p. 102), but
early in the fifteenth century part of it was in the” hands of
the Cochrans of Lee, Edward of Chochran becoming infeft
in the property on 24th August 1425.!

1 ¢Mem. of Montgomeries,” vol. ii. p. 27.
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The coat of arms on a shield, bearing date 16738, is effaced.!
Culevin in 1506 was granted to John Makconochy and

Mansion-house of Ascog.

Alexander Makwrerdy. Both families held the lands a con-
siderable time,

1 THE LAIRDS OF ASCOG (Stuck).

1. JOHN STEWART, Advocatel (1673)=M-—— Cunningham,

' I By I
2. JOHN ISTEWART, = Elizabeth Colonel ROBERT Isabel= Others.

died 1725. Robertson. STEWART. (1) John M*Arthur
of Milton.,
|

3. JOHN STEWART, =Margaret 4. MARY. Daughter= Joun

died 1771 ; Murray. Sir M. S. Pleydell. M'ARTHUR.

changed his name to |
Murray of Blackbarony. HARRIET = William, 5. ARCHIBALD
Earl of Radnor; M‘ARTHUR STEWART.
died 1776.

Jacos, Earl of Radnor.
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In 1680, Culevin, disponed by Robert Stewart of Kil-
chattan to Charles Stewart of Ballintoy, was acquired by
the Sheriff from the latter.

The lands of Scoulogmore in the middle of the fifteenth
century were in the hands of Cristin Leche, who paid rent to
the Crown, Gilbert Cunningburgh received a grant of the
lands, and was succeeded in 1506 by his son William. They
included the marklands of Kerenevin, Keremorane, Mydscow-
lok, and Nether Scowlok. On Keremorane there was situ-
ated a cemetery, relics of which were turned up by the plough
during this generation.

Kerryniven, Kerrymoran, Mid and Nether Scoulag, disponed
to Argyle in 1643, were exchanged by the sheriff for lands in
Cowal in 1666, on payment of 40 merks feu-duty and a twelve-
oared birline, and on Argyle’s forfeiture were confirmed to
Sir James Stewart in 1683.

Kellisloupe, which paid dues to the Constable of Bute at
first, and afterwards was rented from the Crown by a family
of Stewart, was granted in 1563 by a charter to Robert
Stewart, second son of James, the Sheriff at that time.

The 7-merklands of Kelspokes, held by Robert Stewart of
Kerrycroy in 1558, which Alexander Stewart disponed to
Ninian Stewart of Kilchattan in 1622, were resigned to Sir
James Stewart in 1649.

Ambrismore mill and Ardnahoe lands were possessions of
members of the Glass family in the fifteenth century ; but, in
1546, Robert Glass disponed of the reversion of the mill to
the Sheriff of Bute.

The Crown lands of Ambrismore, which in 1498 were in
the hands of David Lyndesay, husband of Eufame Stewart,
were in 1506 granted in heritage by James IV. to Ninian
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by him to Alexander Stuart, and at the same time John
Frasell was in possession of Layngill,

The 20-shilling land of Langalquochag was disponed to
Sheriff Sir John Stewart by John Stewart of Kilwhinleck on
19th September 1595.

Before 1624, Alexander Stewart, the laird of Kelspoke,
held Langilmilgay, which he passed on to his family—while
the Kilchattan branch of the Stewarts possessed Langil-
chorad and Langilkechag. Both passed into the Sheriff’s
hands in 1680 by disposition of Charles Stewart of Ballintoy.

One-half Quochag and tenement in Rothesay, through loans
to Stuart of Kildonan, fell into the Earl’s hands in 1731.

Kerrytonlia, in 1506, was granted in heritage to Malcolm
Makfersoun.

Langalcorad was disponed by Robert Stewart to Charles
of Balintoy in 1680, and from him to the Sheriff in<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>